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minister’s visit to the national Credit Regulator: The Honourable minister, the Director-General and officials of the 
Department of Trade and Industry with the executive Committee of the national Credit Regulator.
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The national Credit Regulator (nCR) is proving to be invaluable 
to South African consumers managing debt.

The nCR monitors credit grantors’ compliance with the 
national Credit Act (the Act) and helps to enforce such 
compliance. In so doing it reduces exploitation of, especially, 
the most vulnerable in our society. 

During the year under review, the nCR was active in a host 
of credit-related issues, among them the ongoing exposure 
of the dangers of excessive unsecured credit growth and key 
amendments to legislation. The national Credit Amendment 
Act, was assented to by the President during the period under 
review and that means that both the guidelines and code can 
now be prescribed by the minister after consultation with the 
nCR. 

The Act makes provision for the minister to implement the 
removal of adverse listings through regulations. It effectively 
tightens the screws on reckless lending, high interest rates 
for credit and the deceptive advertising of credit options. It 
further makes it easier to track and prosecute illegal lenders, 
and empowers debt councillors to intervene before financial 
institutions trigger the process of repossession of assets of 
those who have fallen behind on repayment of their debts. 

The Act also includes additional measures to improve the 
functioning and sustainability of the credit market, as 
proposed by the Department of Trade and Industry (the 
dti) for implementation alongside the once-off removal 
of adverse listings. These include the ongoing removal of 
paid-up judgments and adverse listings as well affordability 
assessment guidelines.  

Under the previous legislative dispensation, an adverse 
listing was displayed on a consumer’s credit record for one 
or two years depending on whether the listing related to 
the enforcement action taken by the credit provider or the 
behaviour of the consumer. The listing could not be removed 
from the credit record before the expiry of its display period 
even if the underlying debt had been settled. The Act has 
changed this by requiring credit bureaus to remove adverse 
listings upon the settlement of accounts by consumers after 
being notified of the settlement by credit providers. 

The nCR has compiled draft affordability assessment 
guidelines to provide guidance to credit providers when 
they perform affordability assessments. The guidelines have 
been tested extensively with credit providers from different 
sectors of the industry and are being finalised for publication. 
In addition, the industry code of conduct has been revised to 
include rules on debt restructuring, emolument attachment 
orders and credit life insurance. 

The nCR’s prime 2013/14 focus was education and 
enforcement.

In addition to a growing involvement in radio stations, the nCR 
also embarked on a dti-inspired national outreach initiative. 
The nCR now visits those regions with the assistance of the 
dti, in consequence of which its national footprint has been 
greatly extended.

In the enforcement arena, the identification and prosecution 
of unscrupulous micro-lenders was prioritised. exacerbating 
the problem is the fact that many micro-lenders are not 
registered. The nCR accordingly developed a strategy 
whereby cross-country raids were directed at pay points; with 
successful results. The operation’s deterrent impact has been 
highly impressive.

It remains for me to congratulate the nCR Board, management 
and staff for a sterling job. 

Honourable Dr Rob Davies, mP
minister of Trade and Industry,

Foreword by the Minister of Trade and Industry
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Statement by the Acting Chairperson

I am pleased to present the 2013/14 Annual Report of the 
national Credit Regulator (the nCR).

During the year under review, the nCR’s key priorities were 
undertaken in order to achieve the following strategic 
objectives:

•	 	to	promote	increased	access	to	credit	through	
responsible credit granting;

•	 	to	protect	consumers	from	abuse	and	unfair	practices	
in the consumer credit  market and address over-
indebtedness;

•	 	to	continually	enhance	a	consumer	credit	market	
regulatory framework; and

•	 	to	monitor	and	improve	the	NCR’s	effectiveness	in	
fulfilling its mandate.

I am pleased to report that the nCR has once again delivered 
on its mandate. The nCR has continued to target matters that 
had the potential to cause widespread consumer harm. our 
enforcement capabilities were fittingly demonstrated by the 153 
investigations and the 3 raids that were conducted. This visible 
enforcement of non-compliance to the national Credit Act, 34 
of 2005 (the Act) has yielded positive results leading to several 
arrests, de-registration of a credit provider and the issuing of a 
number of compliance notices. We have strategically targeted 
cases, which played an important part in protecting the most 
vulnerable consumers.

The cases we took to the national Consumer Tribunal (the 
Tribunal) sent out a strong message. for the year under review, 
administration penalties awarded by the Tribunal included the 
following:

•	 	The	NCR	referred	African	Bank	Limited	(African	Bank)	
to the national Consumer Tribunal for alleged reckless 
lending and this matter was settled with African Bank 
paying R 20 million into the national Revenue fund. 

•	 	The	NCR	obtained	a	judgment	against	Credit	Care,	a	
credit provider that operated from three branches which 
were situated at Kanana, Klerksdorp and orkney, for 
contravening various provisions of the Act. Credit Care‘s 
registration as a credit provider was cancelled with 
immediate effect and an administrative fine of 

 R420 000.00 was imposed.
•	 	A	compliance	notice	was	also	issued	to	SA	Taxi	

Securitisation due to their non-compliance with the 
provisions of the Act. 

our education and awareness campaigns have reached 
approximately 25 million consumers, translating to advertising 
value equivalent (AVe) rates of over R213 million, of which, 

the nCR only paid R3.3 million. The majority of our awareness 
campaigns were achieved through media partnerships and 
innovative communication and education initiatives. our 
consumer-focused messages struck a balance between 
education and awareness.

The consumer credit industry has shown interesting trends.  As 
at 31 march 2014, the value of credit granted was recorded as 
R451.10 billion which is an increase of 3.34% when compared 
to the value of R436.52 as at the end of march 2013. new credit 
amounted to R118.66 billion whilst the recorded debtor’s book 
increased by 2.04% to R1.55 trillion for the quarter ended march 
2014. Additional highlights in the consumer credit sector are 
summarised below:

•	 	The	number	of	applications	for	credit	received	for	the	
year declined by 2,5%  from 42,078,079 in march 2013 to 
40,991 250  in march 2014.

•	 	The	number	of	registered	credit	bureau	for	the	year	
increased to 13 when compared to 12 at the end of 
march 2013.

•	 	The	number	of	registered	debt	counsellors	increased	by	
5,6% from 1 995 at the end of march 2013, to 2 105 for 
the year ended march 2014.

•	 	The	number	of	registered	credit	providers	for	the	year	
ended increased by 5% from 5 450 at then of march 2013 
to 5 724 at the end of march 2014.

The adoption of the national Credit Amendment Bill by national 
Parliament and the national Council of Provinces during the 
course of the year resulted in the Bill being passed. The President 
of the Republic assented to the national Credit Amendment 
Act (Amendment Act) on 19 may 2014. In as far as the nCR is 
concerned, critical changes to the national Credit Act brought 
by the Amendment Act include the following: Automatic 
removal of adverse consumer credit information and paid up 
judgments; Improving the effectiveness of debt counseling; 
Issuing affordability assessment regulations; Improving the 
standard of service and procedures for debt counsellors; 
Registering Alternative Dispute Resolution Agents; Regulating 
Payment Distribution Agencies; enhancing the powers of the 
Tribunal; Reviewing the cost of credit; Prohibiting the sale and 
collection of prescribed debt; and changes in the governance 
structure of the nCR.

During the year, the nCR continued to maintain and enhance 
relationships with a broader group of strategic stakeholders. The 
nCR was able to establish a Credit Industry forum made up of 
representatives from consumer associations, debt counsellors 
and credit providers. In addition, the nCR met with the Credit 
ombudsman on a periodic basis. Through these interactions, 
the various stakeholders now have a better understanding of 
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each other’s role, and where possible, collaborate to empower 
consumers. The nCR will continue to strive for enhanced 
compliance with regulatory requirements through increased 
interaction with key stakeholders, including fellow regulatory 
bodies.

In our efforts to ensure good governance, we are proud to have 
consistently received an unqualified audit opinion. In addition, 
we were able to fully achieve 91% of our preplanned objectives.

It is important to highlight that the changes in the governance 
structure of the nCR could become effective at any point in time 
when the President of the Republic of South Africa promulgates 
the Amendment Act. These changes would result in inter alia 
the Board’s responsibilities as Accounting Authority being 
vested in the Ceo. The soon to be restructured nCR governance 
structure should be able to build on past achievements and key 
lessons over the past several years. These achievements were 
made possible by the dedication and hard-work of nCR staff. 
on behalf of the Board, I am confident they will continue to rise 
to the challenges and opportunities in support of the successor 
governance structure. As this could be the Board’s last annual 
report, we wish the Ceo and staff well in the future.

our achievements would not have been possible without the 
dedication, hard work and professionalism of our staff. Despite 
the challenging plan we had set out for the year, we have 

managed to put into practice a significant amount of work to a 
high standard. I would like to thank each and every employee of 
the nCR for their dedication. my heartfelt appreciation also goes 
to the Ceo, ms n motshegare, who pulled together the team to 
implement the 2013/14 annual plan.

The Board was well served by a strong group of Board members 
who have the depth and breadth of experience across a range 
of sectors. A special word of appreciation is extended to all the 
Board members for their time, dedication and for providing 
strategic direction to the nCR. It has not only been an honour, 
but also a privilege to have acted as Chairperson of the nCR 
Board.

Appreciation also goes to the Honourable minister and to 
the Department of Trade and Industry staff for their support 
throughout the year.

ms mmD nkomo
Acting Chairperson
nCR Board
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Overview of the Chief Executive Officer

During this financial year, the national Credit Regulator (nCR) 
remained committed to ensuring that consumers in the credit 
industry continue to be protected whilst engaging actively 
with industry players.

The key objectives of the nCR for the financial year 2013/14 
and therefore its principle priorities dovetail those of the 
Department of Trade and Industry (the dti).

In this period, the priorities of the nCR were in the following 
areas: enforcement, education and the national Credit 
Amendment Bill.

As one of the key functions of the nCR, enforcement of the 
national Credit Act (the Act) takes the form of proactive and 
reactive investigations. Where contraventions of the Act are 
uncovered, enforcement action is taken. enforcement action 
includes any or a combination of the following: issuing a 
compliance notice, entering into settlement agreements and 
referrals to the national Consumer Tribunal (the Tribunal) 
or the courts. Proactive investigations target specific areas 
following extensive information gathering while reactive 
investigations are informed by complaints lodged by 
consumers, trends identified in the media, referrals from other 
institutions, reports from on-site compliance visits undertaken 
by nCR compliance officers, or contraventions reported in the 
assurance engagement reports submitted to the nCR by the  
auditors or accounting officers of credit providers.

During the year under review, the nCR mandated 153 
investigations and 23 matters were referred to the Tribunal for 
adjudication. Arrests were made, criminal cases opened and 
referrals made to the Tribunal.

Included in the referrals to the Tribunal were 18 credit 
providers and 5 debt counsellors. The contraventions on the 
part of credit providers were charging excessive fees, reckless 
lending, retention of bank cards, pin codes and identity 
documents.  In respect of debt counsellors, the contraventions 
included failure to submit statutory compliance documents 
and not complying with the debt counselling process as 
stipulated in the regulations. 

Total administration fines imposed by the Tribunal amounted 
to R1 835 000.

Another matter that was referred to the Tribunal was that 
of alleged reckless lending by African Bank limited (African 
Bank).  The bank, however, entered into a settlement 
agreement with the nCR. In terms of the settlement 
agreement, African Bank paid an amount  of R20 million into 
the national Revenue fund.

The nCR conducted successful raids in three provinces during 
this period. These were joint operations conducted with the 
South African Police Service. The raids were aimed at clamping 
down on credit providers who persist with illegal bullying 
tactics against vulnerable and unsuspecting consumers.

I feel confident that the great enforcement lengths to which 
we have gone have served and are still serving as a deterrent.

Since its inception the nCR has consistently made a concerted 
effort to educate and inform the South African public about 
the Act and the nCR’s role and responsibilities as per its 
mandate from the Act. An overview of key communication and 
awareness initiatives are provided below: -

educational workshops were held nationally in conjunction 
with Provincial Consumer Desks, Trade Unions, Government 
departments, employers, universities, church groups and 
traditional authorities, to create awareness of the debt 
counselling process and the Act in general. These workshops 
were meant to also educate consumers about their rights and 
responsibilities in terms of the Act.

The nCR has achieved good exposure across all media 
channels (broadcasting, online and print media), with a total 
Advertising Value equivalency (AVe) of more than R200 million 
for the past financial year alone. AVe refers to the value of 
media coverage. The nCR has been featured in newsprint, 
radio and TV interviews. Utilisation of bill boards has also been 
found to be valuable in reaching out to communities. nCR 
also participated in 49 exhibitions, activations and road shows 
across the country. 

The media has played a beneficial role in this process. We are 
grateful to, especially the community media for reaching the 
more vulnerable people in our society.

The wide media coverage was made possible by making 
our enforcement visible and publishing statistics in respect 
of the credit industry trends. These trends are informed by 
the statistical information reported by nCR-registered credit 
providers and credit bureaus.

The nCR has been able to increase knowledge of the 
dynamics of the consumer credit industry, and accordingly 
increase public and stakeholder awareness of the trends 
in the consumer credit industry by publishing statistical 
information on a quarterly basis. These are widely 
regarded as highly credible and are also used by analysts, 
economists, investors and potential investors nationally and 
internationally.
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Significantly, it was through such information that nCR was 
able to raise the debate on unsecured credit. It is pleasing 
to note that over time there has been a slow down in the 
extension of unsecured credit and an improvement or increase 
(though marginal) in the extension of mortgage loans. 

The statistical returns obtained from credit providers and 
credit bureaus have revealed that the amount of credit granted 
to consumers has increased substantially from R1.1 trillion 
in 2007 to R1.5 trillion in 2014. There were 21.7 million credit 
active consumers and out of these, 9.6 million (44.2%) had 
impaired records. This increase has also led to an evolution of 
the problem of household over-indebtedness. Household debt 
to disposable income in South Africa is still high, even though 
the overall household indebtedness is actually down from its 
early peaks: Q4 2008 – 81.9% and this fell to 74.3% in Q4 2013. 
This is an indication that a large portion of household incomes 
still goes to servicing debt. 

 A number of consumers (on average 9100 consumers 
per month) apply for debt counselling. Debt counselling 
has provided relief to numerous consumers even though 
improvements are still required to make it more effective and 
efficient. It is through this process that more than R13 billion 
has been distributed to credit providers from payments made 
by consumers who are under debt review and have had their 
repayments restructured.

In delivering on its mandate, nCR has engaged extensively 
with key stakeholders in the credit industry. These include 
Government departments, especially the dti and national 
Treasury, other regulators such as the financial Services 
Board and the South African Reserve Bank. nCR is also a 
member of the Council of Trade and Industry Institutions 
within the Regulatory Cluster which meets quarterly. All the 
regulatory agencies including the Tribunals meet quarterly to 
share information and find ways of pulling their resources to 
facilitate joint projects. 

nCR also established the Credit Industry forum (CIf) which is 
a stakeholder industry forum and consists of representatives 
from various key stakeholders in the credit industry and is 
chaired by the nCR.

The CIf of the nCR was established to operate on a consensual 
basis to identify and address operational difficulties that come 
with the implementation of the Act, facilitate and negotiate 
industry agreements and facilitate co-operation on related 
credit industry aspects.

The nCR recognises the pivotal role that magistrate’ courts 
play in the success of debt counselling. Capacity building 
workshops and information sharing sessions were held with 
magistrates in the following provinces: free State, Western 
Cape and limpopo. Some of these workshops were conducted 
jointly with the Tribunal. 

All the work that the nCR has done throughout the year would 
not have been possible without its dedicated and passionate 
employees who continue to be provided with formal training 
and on the job training. In addition, the nCR continues to 
roll out its learnership programme on an annual basis. Ten 
(10) graduates were recruited and trained (including on the 
job training) during this period. We plan to recruit and train 
twenty learners each year from 2014/15. This is a joint project 
between the nCR and the Bank SeTA.

one of nCR’s great achievements is that it has always received 
an unqualified audit report. In terms of Predetermined 
objectives (performance information), no material findings on 
the annual performance report were reported concerning the 
reliability and usefulness of the information. 

A critical new milestone – one to which the nCR has allocated 
considerable attention during the year under review – is the 
national Credit Amendment Act, 19 of 2014, which reflects 
necessary and far-reaching amendments to the Act. one of 
the most important of the amendments derives from the 
enforcement challenge, whereby anyone who provides credit 
is obliged to register with the nCR and to comply with the 
requirements of the Act. 

Some of the key amendments are the following: Payment 
Distribution Agencies will be registered and regulated by the 
nCR; Debt counsellors will now be able to issue clearance 
certificates to consumers allowing a consumer to be issued 
with a clearance certificate if the consumer has paid up all 
other debt and the only outstanding debt being serviced by 
a consumer is a mortgage agreement, provided that there 
are no arrears on the mortgage agreement as re-arranged 
during the debt review; Affordability assessment regulations; 
Alternative Dispute Resolution Agents will be required to 
register and be monitored by the nCR; Automatic removal of 
Adverse Consumer Credit Information and Paid Up Judgments. 
The amendments amend sections dealing with removal of 
adverse consumer credit information and paid up judgment 
debt to allow for immediate removal after payment on an on-
going basis. 

The key amendments also incorporate the review of the 
cost of credit and the capping of credit life insurance. The 
amendments will go a long way into providing legal and 
procedural certainty. The provision that debt review may not 
be terminated if an application has already been filed in Court 
or in the Tribunal, gives further protection to consumers and 
strengthens the process. 

nCR shall have far greater control over those who contravene 
the Act. enforcement will be swifter, widespread and more 
efficient.
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In terms of the national Credit Amendment Act, 19 of 2014, 
the law will come into effect once the President has issued a 
Proclamation in the Government Gazette. 

The nCR will for the financial year 2014/15 and the following 
year focus on conducting workshops; embarking on education 
campaigns with consumers and key stakeholders, especially 
registrants, on the new amendments; monitoring compliance 
and enforcing the Act.

looking back on a successful 2013/14 financial year, I am happy 
to report that we have met most of our targets, the end result 
of which is greater protection for the nation’s consumers, 
reflecting our growing ability to achieve our principal 
mandate. 
I conclude by expressing my gratitude to the minister of Trade 
and Industry, the Honourable Dr Rob Davies; Director General 
mr lionel october; and Deputy Director General, ms Zodwa

ntuli, for their continued support of the work of the nCR. 
I also wish to thank the Portfolio Committee on Trade and 
Industry and the Select Committee for Trade and International 
Relations for their continued guidance.

To the nCR Board, the nCR executive Team, management and 
Staff, thank you for your firm commitment and dedication to 
the nCR. I also wish to express my profound appreciation to 
the media, which provided, and continues to provide, ongoing 
coverage of the nCR.

nomsa motshegare
Chief executive officer
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Vision
To promote a South African consumer credit market that is fair, 
transparent, accessible and dynamic.

mission
To support the social and economic advancement of South 
Africa by:
•	 	Regulating	for	a	fair	and	non-discriminatory	market	

place for access to consumer credit.
•	 	Promoting	responsible	credit-granting	and	credit	use,	

and effective redress.

Values
•	 	Service	excellence:	We	strive	for	service	quality	that	

exceeds the expectations of all stakeholders.
•	 	Integrity:	We	are	committed	to	honesty	and	integrity	

without compromise.
•	 	Empowerment:	We	strive	for	empowerment	in	the	

consumer credit market and we are also committed to 
employee empowerment.

•	 	Good	corporate	governance:	We	strive	to	be	a	model	of	
good corporate governance.

The national Credit Regulator (nCR) derives its mandate from 
the national Credit Act (the Act). The purpose of the Act, in its 
entirety, is to:
•	 	Promote	a	fair	and	non-discriminatory	market	place	

for access to consumer credit and for that purpose to 
provide for the general regulation of consumer credit 
and improved standards of consumer information.

•	 	Promote	black	economic	empowerment	and	ownership	
within the consumer credit industry.

•	 	Prohibit	certain	unfair	credit	and	credit-marketing	
practices.

•	 	Promote	responsible	credit-granting	and	use	and,	for	
that purpose, prohibit reckless credit-granting.

•	 	Provide	for	debt	re-organisation	in	cases	of	over-
indebtedness.

•	 Regulate	credit	information.
•	 	Provide	for	registration	of	credit	bureaus,	credit	

providers and debt counselling services.
•	 	Establish	national	norms	and	standards	relating	to	

consumer credit.
•	 	Promote	a	consistent	enforcement	framework	relating	to	

consumer credit.

The Act established both the nCR and national Consumer 
Tribunal (the Tribunal) and it specifically directs the nCR to:

•	 	Promote	and	support	the	development	of	a	fair,	
transparent, competitive, sustainable, responsible, 
efficient (and) effective consumer credit market and 
to increase participation of historically disadvantaged 
persons, low-income persons and communities, and 
remote, isolated or low-density populations and 
communities in the consumer credit market.

•	 	Regulate	the	consumer	credit	industry	by	registering	
credit providers, credit bureaus and debt counsellors.

•	 Enforce	the	provisions	of	the	Act	by:
 o  Promoting informal resolution of disputes 

between consumers and credit providers, bureaus, 
and/or debt counsellors.

 o  Receiving complaints regarding contraventions of 
the Act.

 o  monitoring the consumer credit market and 
industry to prevent, detect and/or prosecute 
contraventions.

 o  Investigating and evaluating alleged 
contraventions of the Act.

 o  Issuing and enforcing compliance notices in 
respect of contraventions.

 o  negotiating and concluding undertakings and 
consent orders as a means of resolving complaints 
by consumers.

 o  Referring matters to the Tribunal for hearing.

•	 	Undertake	research	on	the	nature	and	dynamics	of	the	
consumer credit market in order to increase knowledge 
of these matters by:

 o  monitoring socio-economic patterns of consumer 
credit activity, particularly in relation to over-
indebtedness.

 o  Conducting reasonable periodic audits of 
registered credit providers.

 o  monitoring trends in the consumer credit market 
and industry in respect of the needs of previously 
disadvantaged and low-income individuals and 
the promotion of Bee.

1.4. Vision, Mission and Values 

1.5. Statutory Mandate
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South Africa, with its relatively open economy, is vulnerable 
to the vagaries of global economic performance. Hence, any 
forecast of where South Africa’s gross domestic product (GDP) 
is headed needs to include an assessment of the international 
scenario.

International

Throughout the world, improving economic momentum is 
evident.

Among the advanced economies, the United States (US) and 
British economies are reflecting fairly robust growth rates in 
spite of the disappointing 0,1% annualised US growth rate 
at the start to the year – a performance that was occasioned 
mainly by bad weather. However, with the first quarter now a 
thing of the past, economic momentum is expected to pick 
up again. Indeed, there is a widespread belief that US second 
quarter GDP growth could match or exceed 3,0%. 

In the United Kingdom (UK) positive news flow has continued 
apace, with an increased economic growth forecast from the 
International monetary fund (up from 2,4% to 2,9% in 2014) 
and good UK employment data (an unemployment figure 
below 7% and a pick-up in wage growth).

fuelling international economic confidence is the belief that 
even when quantitative easing (Qe) is over, the US federal 
Reserve’s (the fed) liquidity support will remain at high levels 
for the foreseeable future. The fed has also confirmed its 
commitment to keep rates low until at least mid-2015, as well 
as highlighting the economy’s low inflation levels.

Japan, on the other hand, remains sluggish, with its economy 
reflecting still stagnant wages, markedly low consumer 
confidence and recent yen stability, when further depreciation 
is needed. 

The european Central Bank has its eye on higher growth rates 
by way of a strategy that could either take the form of further 
liquidity measures and/or a negative deposit rate (relatively 
easy to enact, but with limited economic impact). In addition, 
some form of Qe looks increasingly likely for 2014.

The broad international consensus is that global liquidity will 
remain abundant and that the economic outlook is a great 
deal more promising than it was five years ago.

Domestic

It has long been observed that the best time to pursue 
vigorous, growth-orientated economic policies is shortly after 
an election. That’s because the five years that elapse before 
the next election is a sufficiently long period in which to assess 
the efficacy of that policy. on the other hand, if the policy is 
unsuccessful, the ruling party has enough time to rectify the 
mistakes and produce a new plan.

enter the national Development Plan (nDP), South Africa’s 
30-year growth and development framework, which stands 
a better-than-even chance of being actively implemented 
in the near term following an election result that effectively 
provides a five year mandate to proceed with the introduction 
of the nDP. The nDP is highly likely to surge to the forefront of 
government’s economic policy.

of significance is that Business Unity South Africa, the 
country’s largest business lobby, has indicated that it will help 
the incoming administration implement the nDP to rid the 
country of unemployment, poverty and inequality.

Appreciable intellectual input lies behind the creation of 
the huge nDP document that contains the objectives and 
means of achieving goals that include growing the economy 
at a rate above those currently being achieved and reducing 
unemployment from 25,2% to 6% by 2030.

 o  monitoring trends in the market in relation to 
credit insurance and alternative dispute resolution 
agents.

 o  Providing guidance to the credit market and 
industry by issuing explanatory notices and 
applying to the courts for interpretations and 
declaratory orders on any provision of the Act.

•	 	Promote	public	awareness	of	consumer	credit	matters	
by:

 o  Implementing education and information 
measures.

•	 	Review	legislation	and	report	to	the	Minister	of	Trade	
and Industry on matters concerning consumer credit.

1.6. Overview of the Economy
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With both the government and the private sector committed 
to growing the economy, and the elections having been 
concluded, it would not be unreasonable to anticipate an 
upward revision of many of the pre-election growth forecasts.

While the seasonally adjusted real GDP at market prices for 
the fourth quarter of 2013 increased at an annualised rate 
of 3,8% – the largest in two years and significantly up from 
0,7% annualised growth in the third quarter – economists are 
forecasting a growth rate of below 2% in the near term, with 
the figure likely to recover to close to 3% towards the end of 
the calendar year.

The conclusion of the strike, coupled with the near-term 
implementation of the nDP, suggests that the latter part of this 
year could well see the start of a meaningful recovery in South 
Africa’s rate of economic growth.

Given that the value of a country’s currency reflects its 
economic value, the rand’s recent strength could be 
considered an interesting pointer.
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PART 2
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Management Team

Front from left: ms Kedilatile malakalaka (Debt Counselling), ms mpho Ramapala (education and Communication - Acting) 
and ms nthupang magolego (Investigations and enforcement).

Back from left: mr Adrian Skuy (Complaints), mr ngoako mabeba (Statistics - Acting), ms louisa Hetisani (Credit Information and 
Research) and mr Zolile mngqundaniso (Registrations and Compliance).
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2.1.1.  Strategic objectives of the 
national Credit Regulator

The activities of the national Credit Regulator (nCR) derive 
from the organisation’s objectives, which are to:
•	 	Promote	increased	access	to	credit	through	responsible	

credit granting.
•	 	Protect	consumers	from	abuse	and	unfair	practices	

in the consumer credit market and address over-
indebtedness.

•	 	Continually	enhance	a	consumer	credit	market	
regulatory framework.

•	 	Monitor	and	improve	the	NCR’s	effectiveness	in	fulfilling	
its mandate.

Alignment with government and dti priorities

The South African government committed itself to achieving 
12 national outcomes during the period 2009-2014. The 
Department of Trade and Industry (dti), which is the nCR’s 
line ministry, makes a contribution particularly to national 
outcome 12: the creation of decent employment through 
inclusive growth. Table 1 indicates how the nCR’s objectives 
align with those of the dti.

2.1.2  main functional areas of the nCR

The nCR achieves its statutory mandate and fulfills its 
objectives through the following activities and services:
•	 	Registration	of	credit	providers,	credit	bureaus	and	debt	

counsellors and monitoring the compliance of these 
entities with the national Credit Act (the Act).

•	 	Education	of	consumers	and	promotion	of	public	
awareness of the protection afforded by legislation and 
the role of the nCR.

•	 Receive	and	investigate	consumer	complaints.
•	 	Enforce	the	Act	and	take	action	against	parties	that	

contravene it.
•	 Research	on	trends	in	the	consumer	credit	market.
•	 	Monitor	access	to	credit	to	identify	factors	that	might	

undermine access, competitiveness and consumer 
rights.

•	 	Advise	government	of	policy	and	legislation	in	relation	
to the consumer credit market and industry.

Table 1: Relationship between objectives of the dti and those of the NCR

objectives of the dti objectives of the nCR

facilitate broad-based economic participation through 
targeted interventions to achieve more inclusive growth.

Promote increased access to credit through responsible credit 
granting.
Continually enhance a consumer credit market regulatory 
framework.

Create a fair regulatory environment that enables investment, 
trade and enterprise development in an equitable and socially 
responsible manner.

Protect consumers from abuse and unfair practices in the 
consumer credit market and address over-indebtedness.

Promote a professional, ethical, dynamic, competitive and 
customer-focused work environment that ensures effective and 
efficient service delivery.

monitor and improve the nCR’s effectiveness in fulfilling its 
mandate.

2.1. Programme Performance
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Performance area
Registrations and Compliance

Registration
The total number of entities registered with the nCR 
as at 31 march 2014 is as follows: Credit providers: 5 
724 with 45 508 branches; Credit bureaus: 13; Debt 
counsellors: 2 105.

Compliance monitoring
All registered credit providers are required to submit 
standardised compliance reports and assurance 
engagement reports on an annual basis. These 
reports provide the nCR with a good indication 
of statutory compliance. In addition, the nCR 
conducted 14 onsite visits to credit providers.

Registrations and Compliance Team
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Performance area
Consumer education and Communication

During the course of 2013/14, the nCR met face-to-face with 
more than 31 913 consumers and featured in 338 TV and radio 
interviews, the majority of which had a phone-in facility for 
the public. In total, education and awareness campaigns and 
initiatives have reached approximately 25 million consumers.

Educational workshops
The nCR works closely with other consumer bodies such as 
the Consumer Protection forum, consumer affairs offices of 
provincial governments and relevant regulators, in organising 
public education activities. This co-ordinated approach is 
convenient for the consumer and for partner organisations 
in the community, offering participants a comprehensive 
overview of consumer protection. 

During 2013/14, the nCR addressed 316 workshops organised 
in partnership with non-governmental organisations, trade 
unions, employers, traditional authorities, government 
departments and organisations in the credit industry. Through 
a well-established partnership with Congress of Traditional 
leaders of South Africa (ConTRAleSA) an initiative of the dti, 
the nCR participated in a series of workshops organised in all 
provinces. 

In addition, the nCR participated in 44 exhibitions, activations 
and road shows. Consumer education road shows and outside 
broadcasts were held at popular malls in various provinces to 
create consumer rights awareness.

Communication
over the years, the nCR has utilised extensive media outreach 
to maximise its opportunities for free coverage in the mass 
media. The 2013/14 financial year was no exception and the 
nCR achieved media coverage worth R213 million, calculated 

education and Communication Team
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advertising value equivalent (AVe) rates. of this amount, only 
R3.3 million was paid advertising; the remainder was achieved 
at no direct cost to the nCR through media outreach and 
media partnerships.

Education through the mass media
A high proportion of the nCR’s radio and TV coverage relates 
to educational interviews on credit and consumer protection. 
numerous radio stations and TV channels afford the nCR this 
kind of opportunity. However, Thobela fm, motsweding fm 
and mogale fm were exceptional, providing weekly talk-show 
slots. 

The nCR piloted the first ever television adverts for the Spend 
Wisely/Borrow Wisely campaign on Soweto TV and eTV 
reaching a total of 9 396 963 viewers in only ninety 40 second 
slots. 

A taxi rank branding campaign was also piloted for the Spend 
Wisely/Borrow Wisely campaign and this involved commuter 
magazine advertising and advertising on billboards at taxi 
ranks to create awareness of the campaign.

Quite evidently, the subject matter of the campaigns 
encapsulates the principal objectives of the nCR’s Consumer 
education and Communication Department.
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News coverage of the NCR
The activities of the nCR – its quarterly reports, the court cases 
it instituted and the enforcement measures it took – provided 
newsworthy stories to the media. news coverage increases 
awareness of the nCR and builds its profile. The nCR’s reports 
on the state of the credit industry and credit-active consumers 
appeal to business media, while enforcement stories are of 
interest to the general news media. 
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Performance area
Complaints management and Resolution 

Complaints management and Resolution Team
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Complaints handling and resolution
Since inception, the nCR received 613 075 calls at its call centre 
of which 98 874 were received in the year under review. 
In terms of the Act, the nCR also promotes informal resolution 
of disputes. 

Since inception 16 388 complaints were received and of these 
2 519 were received during the year under review. The nature 
of most complaints included the following: high interest 
charges, failure to provide account statements, non-issuance 
of notification to credit providers by debt counsellors, 
delayed distribution of funds by payment distribution agents, 
unprofessional conduct of debt counsellors and other related 
matters.

The resolution of these complaints resulted in about R2 million 
being refunded and favourably adjusted to outstanding 
consumer loan account balances.

Stakeholder relationships
Section 15 of the Act obliges the nCR to promote informal 
resolution of disputes by referring disputes to certain 
institutions. Regular engagements with the Provincial 
Consumer Affairs offices and ombudsman were held to 
facilitate the referral process and resolution of complaints. 

The purpose of these meetings was to discuss challenges 
in implementing the Act, training needs, co-operative 

arrangements and compliance enforcement challenges. 
The nCR had meetings with Provincial Consumer Affairs in the 
KwaZulu-natal , free State, north West, limpopo and Western 
Cape Provinces. further meetings were also held with the 
Debt Collectors Council.   

The nCR is a member of the Consumer Protection forum which 
consists of Provincial Consumer Affairs offices and relevant 
regulators. The nCR is also a member of the Compliance 
Committee which is also a sub-committee of the Consumer 
Protection forum. The committee meets quarterly to discuss 
complaints resolution, trends analysis, referral process etc. 

Workshops were also conducted with various credit providers 
relating to the Act and the complaints resolution processes. 
The workshops have impacted positively on dispute resolution 
time frames.

Internal capacity-building
Two call centre service evaluations were conducted by an 
external service provider wherein call centre agents were 
called and assessed on product knowledge, telephone 
etiquette and professionalism. The reports were positive, 
identifying only minor areas of improvement. Continuous 
training on the Act is taking place to improve effectiveness 
and efficiency. 

Call Centre Team
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Performance area
Investigations and enforcement

A total of 153 investigations were approved during the year. The priority investigation issues were:

•	 reckless	lending;
•	 affordability	assessments;
•	 proper	disclosure	(pre-agreements	and	contracts);
•	 	unlawful	retention	of	bank	cards,	identity	documents	and	pin	codes;
•	 excessive	fees	and	interest;
•	 conduct	of	debt	counselors;	and
•	 credit	bureaus’	compliance.

Three (3) raids were conducted in the period under review 
in the limpopo, northern Cape and mpumalanga Provinces. 
During these raids, a total of 88 credit providers were 
investigated and various contraventions were uncovered 
relating to reckless lending, retention of bank cards, pin codes, 

identity documents, blank debt collection documents signed 
simultaneously with credit agreements, illegal fees, and 
excessive interest and fees. Arrests were made and criminal 
cases opened with the police.
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In the third quarter of the year, the nCR referred African Bank 
limited (African Bank) to the national Consumer Tribunal 
(the Tribunal) for alleged reckless lending. The matter was 
subsequently settled between the two parties wherein African 
Bank agreed to rescind judgments, refund affected consumers 
and pay R20 million.

A compliance notice was also issued to SA Taxi Securitisation 
(SA Taxi) owing to its non-compliance with the provisions of 
the Act. SA Taxi objected to the compliance notice and the 
matter was referred to the Tribunal.

The courts and the Tribunal delivered the following landmark 
judgments, which, in line with the nCR’s mandate, reinforced 
consumer rights:

•	 	Credit	Care’s	registration	as	a	credit	provider	was	
cancelled owing to its non-compliance with the 
provisions of the Act. An administration fine of 

 R420 000 was imposed.
•	 	The	registration	as	a	credit	provider	of	Season’s	Star	

Trading 333 CC t/a De noon’s Cash loans was cancelled 
owing to non-compliance with the provisions of the 
Act. An administration fine of R1 million was imposed. 
Season’s Star Trading indicated that it will appeal this 
decision.

•	 	King	Finance’s	registration	as	a	credit	provider	was	
cancelled owing to non-compliance with the provisions 
of the Act. An administration fine of R300 000 was 
imposed.

•	 	The	Supreme	Court	of	Appeal	dismissed	with	costs	an	
appeal by a mr Bornman against the cancellation of his 
registration as a debt counsellor.
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Performance area
Debt Counselling

Debt counselling is a debt relief measure that came into operation with the 
implementation of the Act in 2007. The debt review process is aimed at offering relief to 
over-indebted consumers who are struggling to meet their monthly debt obligations in a 
timely manner.

The debt counselling function is carried out by debt counsellors who are registered with 
the nCR. These debt counsellors are obliged to carry out the statutory process in line 
with the Act and their conditions of registration. The nCR is required to ensure effective 
implementation of debt counselling and debt counsellors’ compliance with the Act.

Compliance Monitoring of Debt Counsellors

During the year under review, 468 proactive and reactive compliance monitoring visits 
were conducted on debt counsellors nationally. These visits were designed to:
•	 provide	general	support;
•	 	assess	levels	of	compliance	by	debt	counsellors	with	the	Act;
•	 	oversee	conditions	of	registration;	and
•	 monitor	implementation	of	guidelines	approved	by	the	NCR.

The nCR’s approach to these visits is of a corrective nature.

Debt Counselling Team
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Debt counselling workshops

To effectively monitor and improve effectiveness in 
implementing the Act, the nCR continuously engages with 
industry stakeholders. The stakeholder engagement function 
is considered an important contribution to good practice and 
relationship building in any industry. 

In the period under review, the nCR conducted six provincial 
debt counselling workshops in the Gauteng, Western Cape, 
free State, KwaZulu-natal and north West Provinces with the 
aim of: affording stakeholders a platform to constructively 
raise and address issues of concern; achieving common 
understanding; clearing any misinterpretations; creating and 
promoting uniformity; raising awareness of the latest industry 
developments; building good working relationships; and 
encouraging general compliance.

Relevant stakeholders such as credit providers, Payment 
Distribution Agencies (PDAs), magistrates, the Tribunal, 
different subject matter experts and the nCR participated in 
these workshops.

Debt counselling educational workshops

To help create awareness of debt counselling activities and 
educate consumers on the relevant processes, rights and 
responsibilities, five educational workshops were held with 
the mpumalanga Department of education, University of 
KwaZulu-natal (Howard College), Kimberley national Parks 
(northern Cape) and malamulele limpopo evangelical 
Presbyterian Church.

Engagements with the Magistrates

All debt counselling matters have to either be referred to a 
magistrate’s court for an order or to the Tribunal for a consent 
order. Through consultations with relevant stakeholders it 
emerged that challenges existed in the judicial process.

To address these challenges and determine appropriate 
intervention, the nCR engaged magistrates through provincial 
civil court forums. A total of five nCA interventions took place 
via two engagement meetings and three full-on workshops 
in Bloemfontein, Bela-Bela, George and Johannesburg. The 
Johannesburg address stemmed from an invitation from the 
magistrates. 

Debt counselling-related communiqué 

To reinforce communication between the nCR and the 
industry it regulates, twelve (12) circulars and public notices 
on topical issues, trends, industry practices and compliance 
matters were issued. The broader objective of these 
publications is to keep the industry abreast of the latest 
developments. 

Establishment of the Credit Industry Forum

Towards the end of the year the nCR established a stakeholder 
engagement forum, called the Credit Industry forum (CIf), 
comprising industry stakeholders. The aim is to discuss 
operational issues resulting from the implementation of the 
Act. The issues in question are not necessarily included in the 
Act but are operational matters that need to be dealt with in 
order to protect consumers effectively.

In short, the aim of the CIf is to create harmony among all 
stakeholders while promoting the spirit and purpose of the Act.

To date, three sub-committees have been established to deal 
with identified issues and draft position papers.

Debt counselling campaign

During the 2013/14 financial year the nCR conducted a debt 
counselling campaign informed by the level of consumers with 
impaired records as well as the trends and practices observed 
in the market.

The campaign was designed to create general awareness 
and to educate consumers on the debt counselling process. 
Consumers already under debt review and those who will 
potentially go under debt review were targetted.

Advertisements carrying debt counselling messages were 
published in newspapers, on billboards, on street poles and 
were flighted on different radio stations in all nine provinces.
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Engagements with related debt counselling stakeholders

With a view to ensuring that improvements were implemented 
and that the debt counselling process was rendered with the 
minimum of complexity, 53 engagements were conducted 
with the debt counselling departments of different credit 
providers, among them banks, micro lenders, retailers and 
PDAs.

Several such meetings were informed by trends and industry 
practices that necessitated direct discussions with the parties 
involved.

Highlight

The impact of the nCR’s debt counselling function is reflected 
in the following summary of significant debt counselling 
statistics as at end-march 2014:
•	 	517	008	consumers	applied	for	debt	counselling	from	

inception.
•	 	76	212	court	orders	were	granted	and	41973	matters	

were still on the court roll from inception;
•	 	4817	consumers	were	issued	with	clearance	certificates	

from inception;
•	 	Total	distributions	for	the	year	under	review	was	about	

R1.2 billion.
•	 	PDAs	distributed	R13.6	billion	in	disbursements	from	

inception to date.

Table 2: Disbursements since inception

financial year 2012/2013 2013/2014

consumers under debt review 392,393 517,008 

court orders granted 56,995 76,212 

matters still on the court roll 35,195 41,973 

clearance certificate 2,477 4,817 

Total distribution for the financial year R2,964,805,119 R3,728,586,570

Total distribution since inception R9,846,661,528 R13,575,248,098
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Figure 1: Total disbursements by PDAs: for financial year end and since inception
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Performance area
Statistics Department

Consumer Credit 
The nCR analyses all data pertaining to credit providers, debt counselors and consumer credit insurance collected through 
prescribed statutory forms and produces the Consumer Credit Market Report (CCMR). The report is widely read by various 
stakeholders, including the government, credit providers, industry analysts, investors, researchers and decision makers. These 
quarterly reports detail data emanating from the credit providers: the flow (credit granted) and stock (outstanding loans). 

Statistics, Credit Information and Research Teams
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CCMR inclusiveness

The CCMR is compiled from the quarterly returns submitted by registered credit providers. Credit providers whose annual 
disbursements exceed R15 million are required to complete and submit the statistical return (form 39) on a quarterly basis. The 
current sample included in the CCMR is equivalent to approximatelly 95% of the total credit extended to South African consumers 
as classified by the Act. Credit providers whose annual disbursements fall below the R15 million annual threshold submit their 
statistical returns once a year. 

Stats Overview

South Africa’s consumers owed credit providers R1.55 trillion as at march 2014, this represented an increase in the debtors book of 
6.9% when compared to march 2013. new credit extended to consumers amounted to R105.6 billion for the quarter ended march 
2014, an increase of 3.24% when compared to the same period a year ago.
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Gauteng, Western Cape and KwaZulu-natal provinces have continued to dominate new credit extended to consumers with a 
combined share of 74.4%. A balance of 25.6% went to the other provinces.

Secured credit which is dominated by motor vehicle finance, continues to be the leading credit type with a share of 33.5% of 
followed by mortgages with 29.2 %. mortgages have shown a growth of 23.2 % when compared to the same period last year while 
secured grew marginally by 0.5% over the same period. Unsecured and credit facilities’ share is 17.8% and 15.4% respectively with 
the balance going towards short term credit and developmental credit. 

Figure 4: Credit granted by province

Figure 3: Credit granted - percentage distribution
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Performance area
Credit Information and Research

The nCR published four editions of the Credit Bureau monitor (CBm) during the course of the year. This publication tracks the credit 
health of consumers using data submitted to the nCR by the registered credit bureaus. 

Figure 5: Consumers with impaired records
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Figure 6: Accounts with impaired records
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Figure 7: Consumers and accounts with impaired records

Figure 8: Credit reports issued to consumers

Credit bureaus held records for 21.71 million credit active 
consumers, an increase of 5.2% when compared to the 20.64 
million in December 2013. The number of consumers with 
impaired records decreased by 329,000 to 9.60million, from 
9.93 million in the previous quarter. 

The number of impaired accounts decreased from 19.74 
million to 19.27 million when compared to the previous 
quarter, a decrease of 470,000 quarter-on-quarter and an 
increase of 962,000 year-on-year.

on 26 february 2014 the dti published regulations on the 
Removal of Adverse Consumer Credit Information and 
Information Relating to Paid Up Judgments, which came into 
effect on 1 April 2014. As a result of the bureaus implementing 
the above-mentioned regulations, there was a percentage 
decline of 3.9% in as far as consumers with impaired records 
are concerned. With this exercise, consumers who were 
previously disadvantaged as a result of adverse listings in their 
credit profiles benefited and they are now in a better position 
to access credit and can also rent property if they can afford it.
 

The number of credit reports issued to consumers increased to 168,829. of the total credit reports issued, 78.9% (133,216) were 
issued without charge, and the remaining 21.1% (35,613) were issued with charge.
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Microeconomic impact of the National Credit Act on the 
credit industry 
The nCR sought to understand the depth of the micro 
economic impact of the Act on South Africa’s credit industry 
specifically at a business operational level including other 
credit industry institutions as well as on business systems 
and operations including new procedures brought about by 
the advent of the Act. from the study it became evident that 
at microeconomic level, the Act has had an overall positive 
impact as it brought about the implementation of stringent 
credit policies by credit providers thus reining in credit default. 
Although the market systems at the microeconomic level were 
found to be robust, improvements in some other areas were 
needed notably debt collection mechanisms and the building 
of new engagement models across the microeconomic 

industry. Although the study found that the cost of funding 
determined the base cost of any finance given out to the 
consumers, the changes in the conduct of monetary policy 
loomed large thus impacting both the consumer and the 
credit provider. The study concluded that these glaring gaps 
should find expression in the proposed changes to the statute. 

2.1.3.  Key achievements of the 
Programme

The nCR had twelve (12) targets for the year under review. Ten 
(10) targets were achieved, one (1) exceeded and one (1) not 
achieved.

executive Support Team
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Acronyms and abbreviations

Acronym or 
abbreviations

full title or term

DTI Department of Trade and Industry

eXCo executive Committee of the nCR

ICT Information Communications Technology

IT Information Technology

nCA national Credit Act

nRCA national Register of Credit Agreements

leGenD:

Achieved =  Target met on time 
Not achieved =   Deadline date lapsed before target 

achieved 
Exceeded = Target exceeded 
Not applicable =  Where target is achieved, variance 

need not be explained 

2.2.2.  Strategy to overcome Areas of Under Performance

Key challenge Proposed action

ICT A service provider has been appointed to conduct an assessment on the new ICT system. The results 
of the assessment will be evaluated and recommendations implemented.

2.2.3. Changes to Planned Targets

The two changes to the planned targets relate to the national Register of Credit Agreements (nRCA) and the Information and 
Communication Technology system (ICT) due to the following reasons: 

•	 	NRCA:	Planned	consultations	with	the	industry	took	longer	than	anticipated	and	are	still	ongoing.
•	 	ICT:	A	service	provider	has	been	appointed	to	conduct	an	assessment	on	the	new	ICT	system.	The	results	of	the	assessment	

will be evaluated and recommendations implemented.

2.2.4.  linking Performance with Budgets

Strategic objective:

name of sub-programme final Appropriation
R’000

Actual expenditure
R’000

(over)/Under expenditure
R’000

To promote increased access to credit through
responsible credit granting

21,983,661
2,747,958

18,796,753.20
2,747,957.96

3,186,907.80

To protect consumers from abuse and unfair practices 
in the consumer in the consumer credit market and 
address over-indebtedness

48,089,259 41,117,898.11 6,971,360.89

To continually enhance a consumer credit market 
regulatory framework.

16,487,746 14,097,565.11 2,390,180.89

To monitor and improve nCR’s effectiveness in fulfilling 
its mandate.

37,097,428
10,991,831

31,719,521.08
R5,042,713.00

5,377,906.92
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PART 3
Governance

nCR Annual Report 201442

Executive Committee Team

From left: mr mpfariseni mudau (HR manager), ms fundisiwe malaza (Interim Cfo), Adv. obed Tongoane (Chief operations officer), 
mr lesiba mashapa (Company Secretary) and ms nomsa motshegare (Chief executive officer).



NCR Annual Report 2014 43

The Board of the national Credit Regulator is designated as the 
regulator’s Accounting Authority and is charged, under the 
national Credit Act, with:
•	 Guiding	the	strategic	development	of	the	NCR.
•	 	Overseeing	and	ensuring	the	efficient	and	effective	use	

of the resources of the nCR.
•	 	Ensuring	that	the	NCR	complies	with	all	legal	

requirements and obligations in terms of reporting and 
financial accountability.

•	 	Providing	advice	to	the	CEO	on	the	exercise	of	the	
powers and functions of the nCR.

members of the Board bear considerable responsibility for 
communicating an expectation of ethical practice, competent 
administration and honest conduct across the entire 
organisation. Sustaining this culture of good governance is as 
critical as the careful and conscientious exercise of oversight. 
nCR Board members have endeavoured throughout the year 
to fulfill both of these roles.

3.1 Overview of the governance structures

Composition of the Board

The composition of the Board of the nCR is set out in section 
19 of the Act, which provides that:
•	 	The	Chairperson	and	Deputy	Chairperson	are	directly	

appointed by the minister of Trade and Industry.
•	 	The	Ministers	of	Finance,	Human	Settlements	and	Social	

Development each nominate a member.
•	 	Up	to	six	additional	members	may	be	appointed	by	the	

minister of Trade and Industry. At least two of these 
members must be knowledgeable about consumer 
matters.

In the period 2013/14, the Board comprised the following: 

Chairperson: mr Trevor Bailey †
Acting Chairperson: ms maleho nkomo
Designated members:  mr Dube Tshidi (Department of 

finance)
 mr macDonald netshitenzhe   
 (Department of Trade and Industry)
  ms Constance nxumalo (Department 

of Social Development)
 mr Khwezi ngwenya  
 (Department of Human Settlements)
other members:  ms Ina opperman
  mr Richard mutshekwane
 ms Josephine mabotja *
 ms lahlang Somo *

† Resigned in may 2013. * Appointed in January 2014.

Seated from left: ms maleho nkomo (Acting Chairperson) and ms Ina opperman.
Standing from left: mr Jay Pema, mr macDonald netshitenzhe, mr Richard mutshekwane and mr Khwezi ngwenya.
Absent from photograph: mr Dube Tshidi, ms C nxumalo, ms J mabotja and ms l Somo.



NCR Annual Report 201444

Committees of the Board

In accordance with sound governance principles, the Board 
has established three specialised committees: the Audit and 
Risk management Committee, the Remuneration Committee, 
and the Strategy and Policy Committee.

Audit and Risk Management Committee
The Audit and Risk management Committee is responsible for:
•	 The	effectiveness	of	internal	control	systems.
•	 The	effectiveness	of	the	internal	audit.
•	 	The	activities	of	the	internal	audit	function,	including	

its annual work programme, coordination with external 
auditors, reports on significant investigations and 
management responses to specific recommendations.

•	 	Identification	of	areas	of	operational	risk	to	be	covered	
by the scope of internal and external audits.

•	 	The	adequacy,	reliability	and	accuracy	of	financial	
information produced.

•	 	Ensuring	any	accounting	and	auditing	concerns	
identified during audits are addressed.

This committee is constituted in terms of Public finance 
management Act and Treasury Regulations. It is chaired by 
ms Tryphosa Ramano, who is not a member of the Board of 
the nCR and is an independent person. All other members of 
the committee are non-executive members of the Board. The 

nCR’s Ceo, Cfo and Coo are permanent invitees to committee 
meetings.

The committee met five times during the year and attendance 
of members at these meetings is indicated in Table 9. The 
formal report of this committee appears on page 46.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee, chaired by mr D Tshidi and 
comprising two non-executive members of the Board (ms m 
nkomo and ms I opperman), is responsible for remuneration 
and benefits of employees of the nCR, including the Ceo and 
the executive management team.

The Remuneration Committee met two times and most 
members were present at this meeting

Table 7: Attendance at Remuneration Committee meetings: 
April 2013 - March 2014

Committee member 08 July 2013 13 November 2013

D Tshidi √ Apology

I opperman √ √

m nkomo √ √

R mutshekwane * √

Performance of the Board

The Board met on four occasions during the course of 2013/14, 
as prescribed, and average attendance over the course of the 
four meetings was 66.25%.

Significant activities and matters that engaged the Board 
during the year included enhancing the capacity of Board 
members to prevent, detect and mitigate risk. A dedicated 

workshop on risk management was arranged for Board 
members.

Just as the executive Committee of the nCR is challenged by 
the performance of the credit market and the industry in a 
stressed economic climate, so the Board of the nCR has been 
tested in dealing with the issues that this presents and guiding 
the appropriate strategic responses.

Table 6: Attendance at NCR Board meetings: April 2013 – March 2014

Board member 28 May 2013 31 July 2013 25 November 2013 25 February 2014

m nkomo √ √ √ √

m netshitenzhe √ √ √ Apology

C nxumalo Apology Apology √ Apology

J Pema √ √ √ √

D Tshidi Apology Apology Apology Apology

R mutshekwane √ Apology √ √

I opperman √ √ √ √

K ngwenya √ √ √ Apology

J mabotja √

l Somo √

* Co-opted into the Committee in november 2013.
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Strategy and Policy Committee
The Policy and Strategy Committee assists the Board to fulfill its mandate in terms of guiding the strategic development of the nCR. 
This committee is chaired by mr macDonald netshitenzhe and comprises three other members of the Board. Its record of meetings 
during 2013/14 and the participation of members are reflected in Table 8.

Table 8: Attendance at Policy and Strategy Committee meetings: April 2013 – March 2014

Committee member 10 April 2013 20 May 2013 23 May 2013 24 July 2013 06 November 2013 19 February 2014

T Bailey † √ √ √

m netshitenzhe √ √ √ √ Apology Apology

m nkomo * √ √ √

K ngwenya * Apology √ √

I opperman * √ √ √

† Resigned in may 2013.
* Co-opted into the Committee in July 2013.
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We are pleased to present our report for the financial year 
ended 31 march 2014.

Risk and Audit Committee responsibilities

The Audit and Risk management Committee has performed its 
responsibilities in accordance with section 51(1)(a)(ii) and 76 (4)
(d) of the Public finance management Act (Act no.1 of 1999) 
(PfmA) and Treasury Regulations 27.1.7 and 27.1.10(b) and (c) 
for public entities.

The Audit and Risk management Committee is a 
subcommittee of the Accounting Authority which is the 
Board of the nCR. The Committee operates in accordance 
with the terms of its charter which has been approved by the 
Accounting Authority. The overall objective of the Committee 

is to assist the nCR’s Accounting Authority to discharge its 
duties relating to the safeguarding of assets; the development 
and maintenance of adequate systems and controls; assessing 
the going concern status; the review of auditing and 
accounting processes; the review of financial information and 
preparation of annual financial statements. The Committee 
has fulfilled its responsibilities in compliance with its terms of 
reference.

Risk and Audit Committee members and 
attendance

The Audit and Risk management Committee has met 4 
times during the year under review. The composition of the 
Committee and attendance at meetings is set out below:

3.2  Report of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee for the year ended 31 March 2014 

Table 9: Attendance at Audit and Risk Management Committee meetings (April 2013 – March 2014)

Committee Member 20 May 2013 22 July 2013 22 Oct 2013 27 Jan 2014

T Ramano* Apology √

J Pema √ √ √ √

C nxumalo Apology √ Apology Apology

K ngwenya ** Apology Apology Apology

I opperman†  √ √

R mutshekwane†  √ √
* Resigned in August 2013
†   Co-opted into the Committee in october 2013. 
**   Co-opted into the Committee in July 2013.

other persons who attended the Audit and Risk management 
Committee meetings regularly include the internal auditors, 
representatives from the Auditor-General, executive manage-
ment and the Risk officer.

Risk management

effective risk management is fundamental to the activities 
of the nCR. The Committee seeks to achieve an appropriate 
balance between conformance and performance in our 
activities, and continue to build and enhance the risk 
management capabilities that assist in delivering on our 
mandate. 

The responsibility and accountability for risk management 
resides at all levels within the nCR, from the Board down 
through the organisation to each manager. 

The assessment, evaluation and measurement of risk is 
an ongoing process that is integrated into the activities of 
the nCR. This process includes identifying risks and taking 
corrective action where required. 

In accordance with the PfmA, and the King III and Corporate 
Governance requirements, the internal audit provides an 
independent assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the overall risk management and reports to the Board through 
the Audit and Risk management Committee.

The essence of the nCR’s risk management is the protection of 
its reputation and its ability to meet its mandate.

The primary risk to which the nCR is exposed and which 
it manages is operational risk which is the risk of loss of 
reputation resulting from inadequate or failed internal 
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processes, people and systems or from external events. This 
includes legal risk.

The Committee views the availability of additional funds to the 
nCR as one of the key risks towards the on-going concern ability 
of the organisation. In this regard, the Committee continues to 
support management in managing and mitigating this risk.

Risk assessments are an integral part of the overall risk 
management process and cover the key components of 
identification, assessment and management of risk. The nCR 
uses key risk indicators to monitor exposures to key risks 
identified in the risk assessment process.

Internal Audit function

The Audit and Risk management Committee is charged 
with overseeing the internal audit function. The role of the 
internal auditors is to provide support to management and 
the Audit and Risk management Committee in fulfilling their 
responsibilities. The Committee reports that the system of 
internal controls for the period under review was in general 
effective and efficient.

The internal audit function provides an independent 
and objective evaluation of the nCR’s system of internal 
control and any significant risks brought to the attention of 
management and the Committee have been resolved. The 
three year internal audit contract with Sizwe-ntsaluba VSP 
ended in July 2013 and ngubane and Company Inc. was 
appointed with effect from october 2013.

We are satisfied that the internal audit function is operating 
effectively. The strategic internal audit plan is based on key 
risk areas identified and that internal audit has satisfactorily 
addressed these risks in audits.

financial Statements

The Committee has reviewed and discussed, the audited 
annual financial statements to be included on the annual 
report, the Auditor-General’s management report and 
management’s response thereto, nCR’s compliance with 
legal and regulatory provisions and significant adjustments 
resulting from the audit with the Auditor-General and the 
Accounting officer.

The Committee continues to support and encourage 
management to address the areas reported in the 
management report from the Auditor-General and improve 
controls relating to fixed asset management and Information 
and Communication Technology.

The Audit and Risk management Committee is satisfied 
that the financial statements of the nCR for the year ended 
31 march 2014 comply with the requirements of the PfmA, 
and that the basis of preparation is in accordance with 
Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP). The going 
concern principle was adopted in the preparing the financial 
statements. 

The Committee concurs and accepts the Auditor-General’s 
report on the annual financial statements. The audited 
financial statements should be read together with the report 
of the Auditor-General.

Auditor-General of South Africa

The Committee has met with the Auditor-General to ensure 
that there are no unresolved issues.

Conclusion

The Committee congratulates the nCR on the achievement of 
an unqualified opinion for the year ended 31 march 2014. We 
extend our appreciation to the Board, internal and external 
auditors, executive management Committee and staff for their 
tireless efforts, dedication and support throughout the year.

I also wish to acknowledge with gratitude the dedicated 
contribution made by my colleagues in the Audit and Risk 
management Committee throughout the year.

J. Pema  N Motshegare
Chairperson  Chief executive officer
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4.1  Auditor General’s Report

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON 
THE NATIONAL CREDIT REGULATOR

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction
1.  I have audited the financial statements of the national 

Credit Regulator set out on pages 56 to 82 which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 
31 march 2014, the statement of financial performance, 
statement of changes in net assets, cash flow statement 
and statement of comparison of budget and actual 
amounts for the year then ended, as well as the notes, 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information. 

The Accounting authority’s responsibility for the financial 
statements
2.  The accounting authority is responsible for the 

preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with South African Standards 
of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA 
Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the Public 
finance management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act no.1 
of 1999) (PfmA), and for such internal controls as the 
accounting authority determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

Auditor-general’s responsibility
3.  my responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

financial statements based on my audit. I conducted 
my audit in accordance with the Public Audit Act of 
South Africa, 2004 (Act no. 25 of 2004) (PAA), the 
general notice issued in terms thereof and International 
Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that 
I comply with ethical requirements, and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

4.  An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

5.  I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit 
opinion.

Opinion 
6.  In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, 

in all material respects, the financial position of the 
national Credit Regulator as at 31 march 2014 and its 
financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended, in accordance with the South African Standards 
of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA 
Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the Public 
finance management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act no.1 
of 1999) PfmA. 

Emphasis of matter 
7.  I draw attention to the matter below. my opinion is not 

modified in respect of this matter.

Provision for impairment
8.  As disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements, a 

material impairment of R9.7 million was incurred as a 
result of a change in accounting estimate for provision 
for bad debts.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS 
9.  In accordance with the PAA and the general notice 

issued in terms thereof, I report the following findings 
on the reported performance information against 
predetermined objectives for selected objectives 
presented in the annual performance plan, non-
compliance with legislation as well as internal control. 
The objective of my tests was to identify reportable 
findings as described under each subheading but not to 
gather evidence to express assurance on these matters. 
Accordingly, I do not express an opinion or conclusion 
on these matters.
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Predetermined objectives
10.  I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the 

usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 
information for the following selected objectives 
presented in the annual performance report of the 
public entity for the year ended 31 march 2014:

	 •	 	Strategic	objective	1:	To	promote	increased	access	
to credit through responsible credit granting on 
page 39

	 •	 	Strategic	objective	2:	To	protect	consumers	from	
abuse and unfair practices in the consumer credit 
market and address over-indebtedness on page 39

	 •	 	Strategic	objective	3:	To	continually	enhance	a	
consumer credit market regulatory framework on 
page 40

11.  I evaluated the reported performance information 
against the overall criteria of usefulness and reliability. 

12.  I evaluated the usefulness of the reported performance 
information to determine whether it was presented 
in accordance with the national Treasury’s annual 
reporting principles and whether the reported 
performance was consistent with the planned 
objectives. I further performed tests to determine 
whether indicators and targets were well defined, 
verifiable, specific, measurable, time bound and 
relevant, as required by the national Treasury’s 
framework for managing programme performance 
information (fmPPI).

13.  I assessed the reliability of the reported performance 
information to determine whether it was valid, accurate 
and complete.

14.  I did not raise any findings on the usefulness and 
reliability of the reported performance information for 
the selected objectives.

15.  Additional matter 

16.  Although I raised no findings on the usefulness and 
reliability of the reported performance information for 
the selected objectives, I draw attention to the following 
matter:

Achievement of planned targets
17.  Refer to the annual performance report on pages 39 to 

40 for information on the achievement of the planned 
targets for the year. 

Compliance with legislation
18.  I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the 

public entity had complied with applicable legislation 
regarding financial matters, financial management and 

other related matters. my findings on material non-
compliance with specific matters in key legislation, as set 
out in the general notice issued in terms of the PAA, are 
as follows: 

Annual financial statements, performance and annual 
reports 
19.  The financial statements submitted for auditing were not 

in all respects, prepared in accordance with the prescribed 
financial reporting framework as required by section 55(1) 
(b) of the Public finance management Act. A material 
adjustment in the submitted financial statements was 
subsequently corrected, which resulted in the financial 
statements receiving an unqualified audit opinion.

Internal control
20.  I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the 

financial statements, annual performance report and 
compliance with legislation. The matters reported below 
are limited to the significant internal control deficiencies 
that resulted in material adjustments and the findings on 
non-compliance with legislation included in this report. 

Financial and performance management
21.  management did not implement adequate record 

keeping mainly over asset management in a timely 
manner to ensure that complete, relevant and accurate 
information is accessible and available to support 
financial reporting.

Pretoria
31 July 2014
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This report is presented in terms of Treasury Regulation 28.1.1 of the Public finance management Act (Act no. 1 of 1999). The 
Accounting Authority for the national Credit Regulator is the Board, as appointed in terms of section 19 of the national Credit Act 
and section 49(1) and (2)(a) of the PfmA.

1. nature of business

The national Credit Regulator (nCR) derives its mandate from the national Credit Act, Act no. 34 of 2005 (the Act). The mandate of 
the nCR is to effectively implement and enforce the Act as stipulated including the following:-

•	 Registration	of	credit	providers,	credit	bureaux	and	debt	counsellors;
•	 Educating	and	creating	awareness	on	consumer	protection;
•	 Receipt	and	investigation	of	complaints	and	ensuring	that	consumer	rights	are	protected;
•	 Enforcement	of	the	Act	and	
•	 Research	and	dissemination	of	information	relevant	to	the	credit	industry.

2. financial overview

a. financial Results

31 March 2014 31 March 2013

R R

Total Income 94,977,538 93,504,673

expenditure (121,020,045) (109,276,474)

(Deficit) for the year (26,042,507) (15,771,801)

Total Assets 64,023,032 70,452,225

Total liabilities 39,351,814 19,738,499

b. financial Performance

  During the current financial year, the nCR implemented the ruling of the national Consumer Tribunal (nCT) regarding the 
lapsing of registrants who have not paid their fees at renewal date.  This resulted in the impairment of amounts due from 
these registrants. The impact on the financial results has been disclosed in notes 29 and 32 of the annual financial statements.

  funding received from the Department of Trade and Industry (dti) constituted 64% (2013: 59%) of income for the nCR. fee 
income of R30,465,187 (2013: R30,520,124) is the next largest component representing 32% (2013: 33%) of income.

  Personnel costs, being the largest expenditure item represents 48% (2013: 50%) of expenditure with professional fees of 
R19,709,760 (2012: R16,056,422) being equal to 16% (2013: 15%). 

  During the period under review the nCR acquired assets to the value of R5,949,116 (2013: R14,735,307), consisting primarily of 
the ICT infrastructure system.

4.2  Accounting Authority’s Report for the year 
ended 31 March 2014
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3. fees paid to Board members for the year ended 31 march 2014

Table 10: Fees paid for the year ended 31 March 2014

Name Board Audit and Risk 
Management 

Committee

Policy and 
Strategy 

Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Total 
(Gross)

R R R R R

T Bailey 1,590 - 1,542 - 3,132

m nkomo
(Acting Chairperson-Board)

32,060 - 4,626 3,084 39,770

m mongalo 1,735 - - 1,735

I opperman 12,529 3,084 4,626 3,084 23,323

R mutshekwane 10,409 3,084 - 3,498 16,991

J mabotja 2,699 - - - 2,699

l Somo 2,699 - - - 2,699

C nxumalo* - - - - -

D Tshidi* - - - - -

m netshitenzhe* - - - - -

K ngwenya* - - - - -

J Pema (Audit Chair) † 19,923 16,845 - - 35,961

T Ramano - 20,029 - - 20,029

TOTAL 83,642 43,042 10,794 9,666 146,337

* : These members are Government officials and do not qualify for remuneration

† : This member has elected to have his fees paid to his employer

Fees paid for the year ended 31 March 2013

Name Board Audit and Risk 
Management 

Committee

Policy and 
Strategy 

Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Total 
(Gross)

R R R R R

T Bailey (Chairperson) 41,704 - 4,375 3,904 49,983

m mongalo 18,544 - - 8,822 27,366

J Pema† 23,406 19,079 - - 42,486                  

m nkomo 17,080 - - - 17,080

K Hoosain† 13,176 - - - 13,176

C nxumalo* - - - - -

B ntlou* - - - - -

D Tshidi* - - - - -

m netshitenzhe* - - - - -

T Ramano (Audit Chair) - 14,487 - - 14,487

TOTAL 113,910 33,566 4,375 12,726 164,578

* : These members are Government officials and do not qualify for remuneration

† : This member has elected to have his fees paid to his employer
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4. executive management

The following staff members comprised the executive Committee during the period under review, n motshegare (Chief executive 
officer), o Tongoane (Chief operations officer), m mudau (Human Resources manager), l mashapa (Company secretary), Z Zwakala 
(Chief financial officer - resigned) and f malaza (Acting Chief financial officer). The prescribed disclosure of emoluments is reflect-
ed in note 24 of the financial statements.

5. materiality framework

A materiality framework has been approved. 

6. Going Concern

The nCR is mainly dependent on funding from the dti. At this stage there is no indication that in the next 12 months funding from 
the dti would cease.

7. events Subsequent to the financial Position Date

The Accounting Authority (Board) is not aware of any matter or circumstance occurring between the balance sheet and the date of 
this report that materially affects the performance of the nCR for the year ended 31 march 2014 or the financial position at that date.

8. Address

The national Credit Regulator’s offices are situated at:-
127 – 15th Road
Randjespark
midrand

M. Nkomo
Acting Chairperson of the Board
31 July 2014
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The Accounting Authority acknowledges that it is responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the financial 
statements of the national Credit Regulator. In order for the Accounting Authority to discharge these responsibilities, as well as 
those bestowed on it in terms of the Public finance management Act (Act no. 1 of 1999) and other applicable legislation, it has 
developed and maintains a system of internal controls.

The Accounting Authority’s responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances.

The internal controls include a risk-based system of internal accounting and administrative controls designed to provide reasonable, 
but not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded and that transactions are executed and recorded in accordance with 
generally accepted business practices. These controls are implemented by trained personnel and are monitored by management 
with an independent oversight by the Audit and Risk management Committee and the Policy and Strategy Committee.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP). They are based on 
appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable assumptions and estimates.

The Accounting Authority believes that the national Credit Regulator will be a going concern in the year ahead. The going concern 
basis has thus been adopted in preparing the financial statements.

The financial statements have been audited by the Auditor-General, who was given unrestricted access to all financial records and 
related data including minutes of meetings.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 march 2014 were approved by the Accounting Authority on 31 July 2014 and are 
signed on its behalf by:

M Nkomo     N Motshegare
Acting Chairperson   Chief executive officer    
                                   
 

4.3  Statement of Responsibility for the year 
ended 31 March 2014
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The reports and statements set out below comprise the financial statements presented to Parliament:

Index    Page

Statement of financial Position  56
Statement of financial Performance  57
Statement of Changes in net Assets  58
Cash flow Statement  59
Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts  60 - 61
Accounting Policies  62 - 68
notes to the financial Statements  69 - 82

The financial statements set out on pages 56 to 82, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by
the accounting authority on 31 July 2014 and were signed on its behalf by:

M. Nkomo
Acting Chairperson of the Board

midrand
31 July 2014

Country of incorporation and domicile  South Africa

legal form of entity  national Public entity in terms of schedule 3A of the PfmA

nature of business and principal activities  Credit Industry Regulator

members    m. nkomo
    C. nxumalo
    D. Tshidi
    J. Pema
    m. netshitenzhe
    K. ngwenya   
    I. opperman   
    R. mutshekwane   
    l. Somo   (appointed in January 2014)
    J. mabotja   (appointed in January 2014)
    K. Hoosain   (resigned in April 2013)
    m. mongalo   (resigned in April 2013)
    T. Bailey   (resigned in may 2013)
    B. ntlou   (resigned in may 2013)

Registered office   127 - 15th Road
    Randjespark
    midrand
    1685

Auditors    Auditor-General of South Africa

Secretary    l. mashapa

4.4 Annual Financial Statements
financial Statements for the year ended 31 march 2014

General Information
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Figures in Rand Note(s) 2014 2013

Assets

Current Assets

Receivables from exchange transactions 3 3,828,297 1,842,854

Receivables from non-exchange transactions 29 78,000 6,218,713

Cash and cash equivalents 4 38,495,485 42,629,360

42,401,782 50,690,927

non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 5 15,403,015 14,476,867

Intangible assets 6 6,218,235 5,284,431

21,621,250 19,761,298
Total Assets 64,023,032 70,452,225

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Amounts prepaid 7 5,386,417 5,547,305

Deferred government grants 8 - 190,280

Payables from exchange transactions 9 8,275,536 9,509,829

Payables from non-exchange transactions 4 24,066,697 -

Provisions 10 1,595,038 4,285,963

lease obligation 11 10,909 55,304

operating lease liability 12 17,216 149,818

39,351,813 19,738,499
Total Liabilities 39,351,813 19,738,499
Net Assets 24,671,219 50,713,726
Accumulated surplus 24,671,219 50,713,726

National Credit Regulator
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014

Statement of financial Position as at 31 march 2014
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Figures in Rand Note(s) 2014 2013

Revenue
Revenue from exchange transactions
other revenue 13 908,329 167,240

Interest received - investment 14 2,165,199 3,209,790

Total revenue from exchange transactions 3,073,528 3,377,030

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Transfer revenue
fee revenue 15 30,465,187 30,520,124

Transfer payment 16 60,691,000 55,431,000

other revenue 17 747,823 4,176,519

Total revenue from non-exchange transactions 91,904,010 90,127,643
Total revenue 94,977,538 93,504,673

Expenditure
Personnel expenditure 18 57,497,248 54,338,842

operating expenses 19 30,035,200 25,060,508

Depreciation and amortisation 3,628,306 2,805,186

Impairment loss 25 237,945 752,282

finance costs 20 5,321 6,989

Administrative expenses 21 29,616,025 26,312,667

Total expenditure 121,020,045 109,276,474
Operating deficit for the year 22 (26,042,507) (15,771,801)
Deficit for the year (26,042,507) (15,771,801)

National Credit Regulator
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014

Statement of financial Performance
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Figures in Rand Accumulated
surplus

Total net
assets

Balance at 01 April 2012 66,485,527 66,485,527
Changes in net assets

Deficit for the year (15,771,801) (15,771,801)

Total changes (15,771,801) (15,771,801)

Balance at 01 April 2013 50,713,726 50,713,726
Changes in net assets

Deficit for the year (26,042,507) (26,042,507)

Total changes (26,042,507) (26,042,507)

Balance at 31 March 2014 24,671,219 24,671,219

National Credit Regulator
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014

Statement of Changes in net Assets
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Figures in Rand Note(s) 2014 2013

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts
Cash receipts from applicants and registrants 30,465,187 30,305,659

Transfers received 60,691,000 55,431,000

Interest income 2,165,199 3,209,790

93,321,386 88,946,449

Payments
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (91,456,429) (101,856,359)

finance costs (5,321) (6,989)

(91,461,750) (101,863,348)

Net cash flows from operating activities 23 1,859,636 (12,916,899)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 5 (4,074,066) (9,889,109)

Purchase of other intangible assets 6 (1,875,050) (4,846,198)

Net cash flows from investing activities (5,949,116) (14,735,307)

Cash flows from financing activities

lease liability (44,395) (43,379)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (4,133,875) (27,695,585)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 42,629,360 70,324,945

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4 38,495,485 42,629,360

National Credit Regulator
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014

Cash flow Statement
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Figures in Rand

Approved 
budget

Adjustments Final Budget Actual 
amounts on 
comparable 

basis

Difference 
between 

final budget 
and actual

Reference

Statement of Financial Performance
Revenue

Income
fee revenue 33,877,880 - 33,877,880 30,465,187 (3,412,693)
Transfer payment 60,691,000 - 60,691,000 60,691,000 -
other income - - - 1,656,152 1,656,152 n1

Interest income 3,200,000 - 3,200,000 2,165,199 (1,034,801)
Total income 97,768,880 - 97,768,880 94,977,538 (2,791,342)

Expenditure
Personnel (69,344,895) - (69,344,895) (60,648,969) 8,695,926 n2

Communication costs (2,975,999) 219,000 (2,756,999) (2,459,672) 297,327
Bad debts - - - (10,218,914) (10,218,914) n3

Depreciation and amortisation - - - (3,628,306) (3,628,306) n4

Impairment and disposal loss on assets - - - (460,863) (460,863)
finance costs - - - (5,321) (5,321)
Consumer education (3,968,000) - (3,968,000) (3,828,136) 139,864
Professional fees (18,115,211) (540,000) (18,655,211) (19,709,759) (1,054,548)
General expenses (5,227,101) - (5,227,101) (5,475,899) (248,798)
Information technology (2,942,578) - (2,942,578) (2,795,366) 147,212
Premises costs (7,207,071) - (7,207,071) (4,667,771) 2,539,300 n5

Stakeholder communication (2,299,000) - (2,299,000) (2,258,421) 40,579
equipment costs (1,282,840) - (1,282,840) (626,159) 656,681
Debt Counselling Initiatives (4,117,014) 321,000 (3,796,014) (4,236,489) (440,475)
Total expenditure (117,479,709) - (117,479,709) (121,020,045) (3,540,336)
Deficit for the year (117,479,709) - (117,479,709) (26,042,507) 91,437,202
Actual Amount on Comparable Basis 
as Presented in the Budget and 
Actual Comparative Statement

(117,479,709) - (117,479,709) (26,042,507) 91,437,202

National Credit Regulator
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014
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Narrations to the Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts

n1  The variance of R1,6 million in other income relates mainly to the write-off unidentified receipts in line with the Prescription 
Act and awards received from settlement of legal matters. These are not budgeted for.

n2  The variance of R8,6 million (under-spending) in personnel expenditure relates to vacant positions within the nCR which 
could not be filled due to lack of additional office space.

n3  The variance of R10,2million (over-spending) in bad debts relates to the provision for bad debts and bad debts written-off as 
a result of the interpretation of section 52(a) of the national Credit Act by the national Consumer Tribunal. This has resulted in 
the lapsing of registrants’ registration with the nCR and the write-off of the related renewal fees due outstanding. 

n4  The variance of R3.6 million (over-spending) is due to the non-cash item of depreciation on fixed assets for the year. This has 
not been included in the budget.

n5  The variance of R2,5 million (under-spending) is due to inability to secure additional office space during the current financial 
year. The costs for the additional office space were included in the budget.

Narrations to the Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts

n6  The R2,6 million variance (under-spending) is due to inability to secure additional office space during the current financial 
year. The related costs of furniture and office equipment for the additional office space were included in the budget.

n7  The R11.3 million variance (under-spending) is due to the following:
  -   The inability to secure additional office space during the current financial year. An amount of R5million was included in 

the budget as a project for the current financial year.
  -   The balance of the variance is mainly due to delays experienced during the implementation of the new ICT project in 

the current financial year.

Reconciliation of actual amounts to statement of cash flows

  Operating Financing Investing Total
Actual Amount on Comparable Basis as Presented in the Budget 
and Actual Comparative Statement

(21,983,914) (10,909) (5,949,116) (27,943,939)

Classification differences 18,103,711.00 - - 18,103,711
Timing differences 5,739,839.00 (33,486) 5,706,353
Actual Amount in the Statement of Cash flows 1,859,636 (44,395) (5,949,116) (4,133,875)

Budget on Cash Basis

Figures in Rand

Approved 
budget

Adjustments Final 
Budget

Actual 
amounts on 
comparable 

basis

Difference 
between 

final budget 
and actual

Reference

Statement of Financial Position

Assets

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 4,218,172 - 4,218,172 1,550,726 (2,667,446) n6
Capital projects 15,700,000 - 15,700,000 4,398,392 (11,301,608) n7

19,918,172 - 19,918,172 5,949,118 (13,969,054)
Total Assets 19,918,172 - 19,918,172 5,949,118 (13,969,054)

- - - - -
Net Assets

Net Assets Attributable to

Owners of Controlling Entity

Reserves

Reserves 19,918,172 - 19,918,172 5,949,118 (13,969,054)
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1.  Significant accounting policies

The national Credit Regulator (nCR) is a national Public entity as specified in schedule 3A of the Public finance management Act 
(PfmA), Act no. 1 of 1999 (as ammended by Act 29 of 1999). The principle accounting policies applied in the preparation of these 
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated.

These financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance with historical cost 
convention unless specified otherwise. They are presented in South African Rand.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been consistently applied, are disclosed below.

1.1  Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting
Standards Board.

In applying accounting policies management is required to make various judgements, apart from those involving estimations, 
which may affect the amounts of items recognised in the financial statements. management is also required to make estimates of 
the effects of uncertain future events which could affect the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities at the reporting date. 
Actual results in the future could differ from estimates which may be material to the financial statements. Details of any significant 
judgements and estimates are explained in the relevant policy where the impact on the financial statements may be material.

1.2  Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are presented using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
nCR operates (functional currency). The functional currency of the nCR and the presentation currency is the South African
Rand (ZAR) and all amounts are stated in the nearest rand (R).

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign currency amount the spot 
exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

1.3  Borrowing costs

Section 66 of the PfmA prohibits the nCR from borrowing unless such borrowing has been effected through the minister of 
finance. Partial exemption to this prohibition has been granted through practice note 5 of 2006 which allows the nCR to enter into 
finance leases.

1.4  Revenue from exchange transactions

An exchange transaction is one in which the nCR receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly gives 
approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party in exchange.

Measurement

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume rebates.

1.5  Revenue from non-exchange transactions

non-exchange transactions are defined as transactions where the nCR receives value from another entity without directly giving 
approximately equal value in exchange.
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1.5  Revenue from non-exchange transactions (continued)

Fee revenue

fee revenue comprises application fees, registration fees, branch fees and national loans register fees.

Revenue is recognised when the right to the revenue has been established and is recorded at the following dates:
Application fees  Date of registration or withdrawal or rejection
Registration fees  Recognised in full at renewal date
Branch fees  Date of registration
national loans register fees  Date of service delivery
Replacement certificate fees  Date of invoice

Government grants

Government grants received for project purposes are recognised in the Statement of financial Position as deferred revenue upon 
receipt when there is reasonable assurance that the nCR will be able to comply with the conditions attached to the grant.
Such grants are recognised as revenue when the conditions of the grant have been met.

The portion of the grant relating to projects that compensates the nCR for expenses incurred is recognised as revenue in the
Statement of financial Performance on a systematic basis over the same period in which the expenses are incurred.

Government grants are recognised as revenue when:
•	 it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity,
•	 the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably and
•	 to the extent that there has been compliance with any restrictions associated with the grant.

Transfers

Transfers for operational activities are recognised as revenue on receipt.

Where appropriate, the nCR will recognise an asset arising from a portion of the transfer when it gains control of resources that 
meet the definition of an asset and satisfy the recognition criteria.

1.6  Investment income

Investment income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

1.7  Leases

Operating leases

The leases that the nCR enters into as a lessee, and where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the underlying asset, are classified as operating leases. operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. The difference between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are 
recognised as an operating lease asset or liability.

Finance leases

The leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the underlying asset are transferred to the nCR, are 
classified as finance leases. Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets at their fair value at the inception of 
the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included 
in the Statement of financial Position as a finance lease obligation. lease payments are apportioned between finance charges 
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. finance 
charges are charged directly to the Statement of financial Performance. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the years 
in which they are incurred.
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1.8  Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carriying amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the item will flow to the nCR and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. maintenance and repairs 
which neither materially add to the value of the assets nor appreciably prolong the their useful lives, are expensed during the 
financial year in which they are incurred.

The asset’s residual values, depreciation method and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end.

If any item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits or service 
potential are expected from its use or disposal, the gain or loss if any (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the Statement of financial Performance in the year the asset is 
derecognised.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight line method to allocate their cost over their useful 
lives. The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Fixed asset class  Average useful life
machinery  7 years
furniture and fittings  10 years
office equipment  3-7 years
Computer equipment  3-7 years
leasehold improvements  Remaining period of lease
Security equipment  3-7 years
leasehold equipment  Remaining period of lease

1.9  Intangible assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost which includes all expenditure incurred to bring the asset into use.

Costs associated with maintaining acquired software programmes are recognised as an expense when incurred. Costs that are 
directly associated with the development of identifiable and unique software and that will probaly generate economic benefits or 
service potential beyond one year, are recognised as an intangible asset.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:
it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale.
there is an intention to complete and use it
there is an ability to use it
it will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential.
there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use the asset.
the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are not recognised as 
intangible assets.

The annual ammortisation rate is based on the following estimated useful lives:

Item   Useful life
Computer software  5-7 years
ICT operational system  5-7 years
Human resource system  5-7 years

Intangible assets are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits or service potential are expected from its use 
or disposal.
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1.9  Intangible assets (continued)

The gain or loss is the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount. It is recognised in surplus or 
deficit when the asset is derecognised.

1.10  Impairment of non-cash-generating assets

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic recognition of 
the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential through depreciation (amortisation).

Identification

When the carrying amount of a non-cash-generating asset exceeds its recoverable service amount, it is impaired.

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that a non-cash-generating asset may be impaired.
If any such indication exists, the entity estimates the recoverable service amount of the asset.

Recognition and measurement

If the recoverable service amount of a non-cash-generating asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced to its recoverable service amount. This reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation or amortisation charge for the non-cash-generating asset is adjusted 
in future periods to allocate the non-cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic 
basis over its remaining useful life.

Reversal of an impairment loss

The entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for 
a non-cash-generating asset may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the entity estimates the 
recoverable service amount of that asset.

An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a non-cash-generating asset is reversed if there has been a change in the 
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable service amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable service amount. The increase is a reversal of an impairment loss.
The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a non-cash-generating asset is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

1.11  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the nCR has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, for which it is 
probable that the nCR will be required to settle the obligation, and where a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the 
Statement of financial Position date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where the effect of 
the time value of money is material, the provision is discounted to the present value of the expected cash flows required to settle 
the obligation.
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1.12  Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase their 
entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive obligation to make such 
payments as a result of past performance.

Retirement benefits

The nCR provides retirement benefits for all its permanent employees through a defined contribution provident fund scheme 
which is subject to the Pension funds Act, no.24 of 1956 as amended. All the nCR’s permanent employees are covered by the 
provident fund. The contributions to the fund are charged as an expense as and when they accrue.

1.13  Financial instruments

Financial assets at ammortised cost

The entity classifies financial assets as financial assets held at amortised cost.

financial assets at ammortised costs have fixed or determinable payments and are initially recognised at fair value using the trade 
date accounting and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment.

financial assets consisting of trade receivables are only discounted when the effects of discounting are material and once the initial 
credit period granted consistent with the terms used in the public sector either through established practices or legislation have 
elapsed.
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1.13  Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each end of the reporting period to determine whether there is 
objective evidence that as a result of one or more event that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset the 
estimated future cash flows of the asset have been negatively impacted.

for financial assets, significant evidence include:
-  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligator, or
-  default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, or
-  the probability that the issurer will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

for other financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets assessed not to be impaired on an individual basis are also assessed for 
impairment on a collective basis.

for assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the assets carrying amount and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial assets’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly, except for trade receivables, where the 
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.

When trade receivables are considered to be uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance are 
recognised in the Statement of financial Performance.

Impairment losses are recognised in surplus or deficit.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the carrying amount of the financial asset at the 
date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been 
recognised.

Initial recognition and measurement

financial instruments are recognised initially when the nCR becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

The nCR classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or an 
equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value is not determinable, 
which are measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

for financial instruments which are not at fair value through surplus or deficit, transaction costs are included in the initial 
measurement of the instrument.

Subsequent measurement

financial instruments at fair value through surplus or deficit are subsequently measured at fair value, with gains and losses arising 
from changes in fair value being included in surplus or deficit for the period or at ammortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held on call with banks all of which are available for use by the
nCR unless otherwise stated. These are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.
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1.13  Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities

financial liabilities which include accounts payable and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised costs using the effective interest rate method. Accounts payables and other payables are only discounted 
when the effects of discounting are material and once the initial credit period granted consistent with the terms used in the public 
sector either through established practices or legislation have elapsed.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same customer on substantially different terms to the terms 
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original 
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the Statement of financial Performance.

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of financial Position only when the nCR 
has a legally enforceable right to set off amounts and intends to either to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and liability 
simultaneously.

1.14  Related parties

As a consequence of the constitutional independence of the three spheres of government in South Africa, only entities within the 
national sphere of government are considered to be related parties.

Key management is defined as those individuals with the authority and are responsible for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity, including those charged with the governance of the entity in accordance with legislation, in instances where 
they are required to perform such functions.

Close members of the family of a person are considered to be those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by management in their dealings with the nCR.

1.15  Comparative figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

1.16  Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the statement of financial performance 
in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance with the nature of the expense, and where 
recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the statement of financial performance.

1.17  Budget information

The approved budget covers the fiscal period from 2013/04/01 to 2014/03/31.

The financial statements and the budget are both prepared on the accrual basis accounting. A reconciliation between the 
statement of financial performance and the budget have been included in the financial statements.
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Figures in Rand 2014 2013

2.  New standards and interpretations

2.1  Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the nCR has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current financial year 
and that are relevant to its operations:

Standard/ Interpretation:  Effective date: Expected impact:
  Years beginning on
  or after
GRAP 25: employee benefits  01 April 2013  The impact on financial results  
   and disclosure is minimal.
GRAP 20: Related parties  01 April 2013  The impact on financial results  
   and disclosure is minimal.
GRAP 1 (as revised 2012): Presentation of financial Statements  01 April 2013  The impact on financial results  
   and disclosure is minimal.
GRAP 3 (as revised 2012): Accounting Policies, Change in Accounting
estimates and errors 01 April 2013  The impact on financial results  
   and disclosure is minimal.
GRAP 7 (as revised 2012): Investments in Associates  01 April 2013  no impact on financial results and  
   disclosure.
GRAP 9 (as revised 2012): Revenue from exchange Transactions  01 April 2013  The impact on financial results  
   and disclosure is minimal.
GRAP 13 (as revised 2012): leases  01 April 2013  The impact on financial results  
   and disclosure is minimal.
GRAP 17 (as revised 2012): Property, Plant and equipment  01 April 2013  The impact on financial results  
   and disclosure is minimal.
GRAP 31 (as revised 2012): Intangible Assets (Replaces GRAP 102)  01 April 2013  The impact on financial results  
   and disclosure is minimal.

2.2  Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective

The nCR has not applied the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for the nCR’s 
accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2014 or later periods:

Standard/ Interpretation:  Effective date: Expected impact:
  Years beginning on
  or after
GRAP 105: Transfers of functions between entities under common 01 April 2014  no impact on financial results and
control  disclosure.
GRAP 106: Transfers of functions between entities not under common 01 April 2014  no impact on financial results and
control  disclosure.
GRAP 107: mergers  01 April 2014  no impact on financial results and
   disclosure.
IGRAP 11: Consolidation – Special purpose entities  01 April 2014  no impact on financial results and
   disclosure.
IGRAP 12: Jointly controlled entities – non-monetary contributions by 01 April 2014  no impact on financial results and
ventures  disclosure.
GRAP 6 (as revised 2010): Consolidated and Separate financial 01 April 2014  no impact on financial results and
Statements  disclosure.
GRAP 7 (as revised 2010): Investments in Associates  01 April 2014  no impact on financial results and  
   disclosure.
GRAP 8 (as revised 2010): Interests in Joint Ventures  01 April 2014  no impact on financial results and  
   disclosure.
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Figures in Rand 2014 2013

3.  Receivables from exchange transactions

Removal of adverse credit information project-Dti 2,827,956 1,313,191

Deposits 118,330 118,330

expenses prepaid 457,999 411,333

other receivables 424,012  -

3,828,297 1,842,854

4.  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 3,000 6,000

Bank balances 29,893 30,625

Call account 38,462,592 42,592,735

38,495,485 42,629,360

Cash and cash equivalents balances include amounts of R24,066,697 (2013: Rnil) which are held by the national Credit Regulator on 
behalf of third parties. These amounts have also been included in payables for non-exchange transactions.
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5.  Property, plant and equipment

2014 2013

Cost Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value 

Cost Accumulated 
depreciation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value

Computer equipment 6,302,504 (2,666,794) 3,635,710 6,930,728 (2,889,729) 4,040,999

furniture and fittings 2,879,603 (1,322,454) 1,557,149 3,042,398 (1,253,335) 1,789,063

leasehold equipment 307,577 (296,810) 10,767 318,140 (265,462) 52,678

machinery 257,113 (244,258) 12,855 257,113 (223,903) 33,210

office equipment 1,388,517 (544,376) 844,141 1,548,609 (643,306) 905,303

leasehold improvements 1,767,280 (1,618,131) 149,149 3,239,418 (2,678,990) 560,428

Security equipment 1,146,488 (572,054) 574,434 986,173 (455,337) 530,836

ICT operational system 9,087,692 (468,882) 8,618,810 6,564,350 - 6,564,350

Total 23,136,774 (7,733,759) 15,403,015 22,886,929 (8,410,062) 14,476,867

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2014

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Depreciation Impairment 
loss

Total

Computer equipment 4,040,999 931,444 (294,772) (892,056) (149,905) 3,635,710

furniture and fittings 1,789,063 241,420 (119,192) (292,668) (61,474) 1,557,149

leasehold equipment 52,678 4,099 - (46,010) - 10,767

machinery 33,210 - - (20,355) - 12,855

office equipment 905,303 204,148 (47,379) (191,365) (26,566) 844,141

leasehold improvements 560,428 347,383 - (758,662) - 149,149

Security equipment 530,836 160,315 - (116,717) - 574,434

ICT operational system 6,564,350 2,523,342 - (468,882) - 8,618,810

14,476,867 4,412,151 (461,343) (2,786,715) (237,945) 15,403,015

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2013

Opening 
balance

Additions Transfers Depreciation Impairment 
loss

Total

Computer equipment 2,749,801 2,026,503 - (735,305) - 4,040,999

furniture and fittings 1,948,454 124,368 - (283,759) - 1,789,063

leasehold equipment 95,529 41,523 - (84,374) - 52,678

machinery 68,104 - - (34,894) - 33,210

office equipment 1,864,366 480,911 (386,696) (300,996) (752,282) 905,303

leasehold improvements 1,280,902 336,435 - (1,056,909) - 560,428

Security equipment 327,051 315,019 - (111,234) - 530,836

ICT operational system - 6,564,350 - - - 6,564,350

8,334,207 9,889,109 (386,696) (2,607,471) (752,282) 14,476,867
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Figures in Rand 2014 2013

6.  Intangible assets

2014 2013

Cost Accumulated 
amortisation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value 

Cost Accumulated 
amortisation 

and 
accumulated 
impairment

Carrying 
value

Computer software 6,576,505 (1,670,010) 4,906,495 5,606,233 (1,203,479) 4,402,754

Human Resource System 1,543,424 (231,684) 1,311,740 881,677 - 881,677

Total 8,119,929 (1,901,694) 6,218,235 6,487,910 (1,203,479) 5,284,431

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2014

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Amortisation Total

Computer software 4,402,754 1,213,303 (99,654) (609,908) 4,906,495

Human Resource System 881,677 661,747 - (231,684) 1,311,740

5,284,431 1,875,050 (99,654) (841,592) 6,218,235

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2013

Opening 
balance

Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software 635,947 3,964,521 (197,714) 4,402,754

Human Resource System -   881,677 - 881,677

635,947 4,846,198 (197,714) 5,284,431

7.  Amounts prepaid and deferred annual fees

Prepaid amounts comprise application fees and fees received in advance from registrants. These are reflected as non-exchange 
revenue when recognised in the statement of financial performance.

Amounts prepaid 5,386,417 5,547,305
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8.  Deferred government grants

Unspent conditional grants and receipts comprises of:

learnership grant - 190,280

9.  Payables from exchange transactions

Trade payables 2,748,940 6,860,786

Accruals 5,526,596 2,649,043

8,275,536 9,509,829

The majority of payables are due and payable within 30 days from the reporting date. The fair values of trade and other payables 
approximate the above values.

10.  Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions - 2014

Opening 
balance

Additions Utilised 
during the 

year

Reversed 
during the 

year

Total

Provision for legal fees 3,027,994 147,838 (1,231,501) (1,766,103) 178,228

Provision for bonuses 1,257,969 5,667,240 (5,372,409) (135,990) 1,416,810

4,285,963 5,815,078 (6,603,910) (1,902,093) 1,595,038

Reconciliation of provisions - 2013

Opening 
balance

Additions Utilised 
during the 

year

Reversed 
during the 

year

Total

Provision for legal fees 5,449,043 2,874,372 (3,762,400) (1,533,021) 3,027,994

Provision for bonuses 871,012 5,165,748 (4,711,855) (66,936) 1,257,969

6,320,055 8,040,120 (8,474,255) (1,599,957) 4,285,963

Provision for legal fees comprise legal fees payable due to ongoing litigation which the nCR is involved in. It is uncertain when the 
matters will be finalised. The value of the provision is reviewed on annual basis in line with progress on such legal matters.

Provision for performance bonuses is payable within the next twelve months and is based on performance evaluation as at 31 
october each year.

National Credit Regulator
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014
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11.  Finance lease obligation

Minimum lease payments due
- within one year 10,656 46,716
- in second to fifth year inclusive 683 9,138

11,339 55,854
less: future finance charges (430) (550)
Present value of minimum lease payments 10,909 55,304

The finance lease relates to the leasing of telephone equipment under the finance lease.

The average lease term is 2 years and the average effective borrowing rate is 8% (2013: 8%). ownership of the equipment is 
automatically transferred at the end of the lease term.

12.  Commitments

Authorised capital expenditure

Already contracted for but not provided for
•	 		Information	Communications	and	Technology	(ICT)	system	 13,434,107 17,500,000
•	 		Human	resource	system	 768,817 1,821,095

14,202,924 19,321,095

The committed expenditure will be financed through the annual transfer from the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI).

The above amounts relate to the value of the commitment over the remaining period of the commitment. The remaining period 
of the commitment for the new ICT and Human Resource systems is 5 years.

Operating leases

Minimum lease payments due
Building 14,822 93,652
equipment - 14,883
Billboard 2,394 41,283

17,216 149,818

operating lease commitments consist of leases for the office building, billboard and various items of office equipment. The building 
and billboard rental contracts escalate at 6.5% and 7% per annum respectively on the lease anniversary and both expire on the 
30 April 2015. The equipment leases have a duration of 3 to 5 years with no option of renewal. one item of equipment contains an 
escalation clause of 15% per annum.

The operating lease costs have been straight-lined over the lease term and a deferred operating lease expense has been raised. The 
deferral will amount to nil at the end of the lease term. no contingent rental is payable.

Minimum lease payments due Building Equipment Billboard Total

- Payable within one year 1,883,592  - 967,176 2,850,768

- Payable within two to five years 156,966  - 80,598 237,564

2,040,558  - 1,047,774 3,088,332

National Credit Regulator
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014
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13.  Other exchange revenue

Skills development levies recovered 132,558 112,895
Reimbursements  48,560 49,662
Proceeds from insurance claim 50,240 3,563
Proceeds from purchase of register of registrants 2,560 1,120
Proceeds from sale of tender documents 31,000 -
Proceeds from settlement of legal matters 643,411 -

908,329 167,240
14.  Investment revenue

Interest revenue
Bank 2,165,199 3,209,790

15.  Fee revenue

Application fees 313,750 503,050
Registration fees 22,354,271  22,932,691
Branch fees 5,873,471 5,277,024
national loans register fees 1,809,185 1,658,059
Replacement certificates 114,510 149,300

30,465,187 30,520,124

16.  Transfers

Transfer from the Department of Trade and Industry 60,691,000 55,431,000

Operational activities

The Department of Trade and Industry (DTI) contributes to the operational activities of the nCR while also providing funding for 
specific projects.

17.  Other non-exchange revenue

Prepaid amounts written off relates to the recognition as income, of unidentified and unclaimed receipts in line with the 
Prescription Act. These were previously reflected under current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

Prepaid amounts written off 669,823 4,176,519
learnership Grant 78,000 -

747,823 4,176,519

18.  Personnel expenditure

Salaries 50,558,222 47,656,489
Contributions to retirement fund 4,594,810 4,330,191
medical aid contributions 1,630,180 1,417,728
Temporary staff 565,185 934,434

57,348,397 54,338,842

National Credit Regulator
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014
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19.  Operating expenses

Professional fees 19,709,760 16,056,422

Consumer education 4,021,852 2,449,047

Stakeholder communication 2,067,099 1,669,886

Debt relief programme 4,236,489 4,885,153

30,035,200 25,060,508

20.  Finance costs

Interest paid - finance lease 5,321 6,989

21.  Administrative expenses

Premises and equipment 5,296,839 5,546,526

Communication costs 2,459,673 1,969,608

Information technology 2,795,366 2,935,196

General expenses 15,763,559 12,433,833

Recruitment 971,462 782,685

Training 1,768,337 1,688,726

other staff costs 560,789 956,093

29,616,025 26,312,667

General expenses comprise:

Audit fees 2,469,318 2,689,857

Bank charges 104,636 105,722

Board and Committee remuneration 146,337 164,578

Insurance 501,114 298,081

loss on disposal of assets 212,273 -

office costs 4,140 15,373

Penalties - 65,204

Bad debts 10,218,914 7,296,723

Subscriptions 107,451 124,532

Travel and accommodation 1,999,376 1,673,763

15,763,559 12,433,833

National Credit Regulator
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22.  Operating deficit

operating deficit for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

external audit fees (included in administrative expenses)  1,914,588 1,511,318

Board members fees - non-executive (included in general expenses) 146,337 164,578

operating lease payments - Building (included in premises and equipment) 1,693,537 1,429,352

operating lease payments - equipment (included in premises and equipment) 630,730 1,136,225

Provision for bad debts (included in general expenses) 10,218,914 7,296,723

loss on disposal of assets (included in general expenses) 212,273 -

14,816,379 11,538,196

Impairment on property, plant and equipment 237,945 752,282

Amortisation on intangible assets 841,592 197,714

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 2,786,714 2,607,472

Personnel expenditure 57,497,248 54,338,842

23.  Cash generated from (used in) operations

Deficit for the year (26,042,507) (15,771,801)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 3,628,306 2,805,186

finance costs 5,321 -

Impairment deficit 237,945 752,282

movements in operating lease assets and accruals (132,602) (323,603)

movements in provisions (2,690,925) (2,034,092)

non-current assets written off 217,594 386,692

Changes in working capital:

Receivables from exchange transactions (1,985,443) (1,540,247)

other receivables from non-exchange transactions 6,140,713 222,262

Payables from exchange transactions (1,234,295) 2,643,764

Deferred government grants (190,280) 26,767

Amounts prepaid (160,888) (84,109)

Payables from non-exchange transactions 24,066,697 -

 (1,859,636) (12,916,899)

National Credit Regulator
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24.  Managements’ emoluments

Executive management

2014

Salary Provident 
fund 

contributions

Travel 
allowance

Performance 
bonus

Total

n motshegare 1,893,024 222,336 108,000 333,504 2,556,864

o Tongoane 1,431,750 163,083 36,000 234,314 1,865,147

f malaza 1,221,788 - - - 1,221,788

Z Zwakala 82,500 9,166 - - 91,666

l mashapa 1,001,352 111,261 - 148,671 1,261,284

m mudau 855,013 103,001 72,000 160,594 1,190,608

6,485,427 608,847 216,000 877,083 8,187,357

2013

Salary Provident 
fund 

contributions

Travel 
allowance

Performance 
bonus

Leave acting 
allowance

Commutation Total

n motshegare 1,674,710 198,079 108,000 284,173 30,322 - 2,295,284

o Tongoane 1,217,158 139,240 36,000 197,983  -  - 1,590,381

TS Pather 846,441 102,049 72,000 - - 1,534,881 2,555,371

f malaza 709,962 - - - - - 709,962

l mashapa 928,562 103,174 - 96,314  - - 1,128,050

m mudau 770,989 93,665 72,000  164,642  - - 1,101,296

6,147,822 636,207 288,000 743,112 30,322 1,534,881 9,380,344
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25.  Impairment of assets

Impairments

Property, plant and equipment 237,945 752,282

The impairment loss in the current financial year relates to damaged and obsolete items of 
property, plant and equipment. The recoverable amount for these items has been estimated as 
Rnil. The impairment loss for the 2013 financial year related to the impairment of the telephone 
system due to technological changes. The current telephone system was not compatible with 
the IT infrastructure which is currently being developed by the nCR. The recoverable amount 
was estimated as Rnil.

26.  Related parties

Relationships

Board members Contractual relationship

members of key management Contractual relationship

Department of Trade and Industry national department in national sphere of government

Auditor General SA Public entity in national sphere

Telkom limited Public entity in national sphere

Unemployment insurance fund Public entity in national sphere

Bankseta Public entity in national sphere

financial Services Board Public entity in national sphere

Related party transactions

Department of Trade and Industry

Receivables - Removal of adverse credit information  2,827,956 1,396,480

Transfer payments received 60,691,000 55,431,000

27.  Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Penalties - South African Revenue Services - 65,204

Disciplinary steps were taken against the responsible official. no criminal charges were laid.

National Credit Regulator
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014
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28.  Risk management

Financial risk management objectives

The nCR’s finance function provides services to the organisation, and monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the 
operations of the nCR, through analysing the organisation’s degree and magnitude of risks.
In the ordinary course of business, the nCR is exposed to a number of risks as described below.

Liquidity risk

management monitors rolling forecasts of the nCR’s cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flow.

The table below analyses the nCR’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at 
the Statement of financial Position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not 
significant.

Contractual undiscounted liabilities Payable in less 
than 3 months

Payable in 3 to 
12 months

Payable after 
one year

Total

Trade payables 8,286,361 - - 8,286,361

finance lease liabilities 2,560 7,679 670 10,909

8,288,921 7,679 670 8,297,270

31 March 2013 Payable in less 
than 3 months

Payable in 3 to 
12 months

Payable after 
one year

Total

Trade payables 6,860,786 - - 6,860,786

finance lease liabilities 19,851 35,453 - 55,304

6,880,637 35,453 - 6,916,090

Credit risk

Credit risk represents the potential loss to the nCR as a result of unexpected defaults or unexpected deterioration in the credit 
worthiness of counterparties. The nCR’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its receivables. This risk has been assessed as high 
in the current year due to due to the discovery of prior period errors with regards to the understatement of revenue with regards 
to renewal fees in prior years. Revenue is accrued as described in the applicable accounting policy. The carrying amount of trade 
receivables represents the nCR’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

With regard to credit risk arising from the other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, the nCR’s exposure 
arises from a potential default of the counterparty where credit rating is constantly monitored, with a maximum exposure of 
R14,428,788 (2013: R42,629,360) to the carrying amount of these instruments.
The institution in which funds have been placed is monitored on a quarterly basis to assess any potential risks.
Cash and cash equivalents are only placed with banking institutions with an AA. credit rating.

financial assets exposed to credit risk at year end were as follows:

Financial instrument 2014 2013
other receivables 3,969,887 1,842,854
Trade receivables - 6,218,713

MARKET RISK
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28.  Risk management (continued)

Interest rate risk

This is mainly attributable to the nCR’s exposure to interest rates on its cash and cash equivalents.

The interest rate exposure analysis below have been determined based on the nCR’s exposure to cash held with the bank on call 
and in the current account at the reporting date. A 50 (2013: 50) basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest 
rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the potential impact of the 
change in interest rates.

The nCR’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased primarily as a result of a decreasing interest rate environment.

exposure to interest rate risk is set out below:

Class of financial instrument
Cash and cash equivalents 38,495,485 42,629,360
less amounts held on behalf of third parties (24,066,697) -

14,428,788 42,629,360
Fair values

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values.

29.  Receivables from non-exchange transactions

Trade debtors - 6,218,713
learnership grant 78,000 -

78,000 6,218,713

Receivables from non-exchange transactions impaired

As of 31 march 2014, receivables from non-exchange transactions of R 9,710,224 (2013: R7,296,723) were impaired and provided 
for. The impairment is based on the ruling of the national Consumer Tribunal in terms of section 52(4)(b of the national of the 
national Credit Act. Refer to note 33 for the effect of the change.

The ageing of these receivables is as follows:
less than 3 months but relating to years 2008-2012 - 5,922,848
less than 3 months but relating to the current year - 2,961,951
more than 3 months relating to the current year 9,710,224 4,630,637

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of receivables from non-exchange transactions

opening balance 7,296,723 -
Provision for impairment 9,710,224 7,296,723
Amounts written off as uncollectible (7,296,723) -

9,710,224 7,296,723

Reconciliation of trade debtors
Gross 9,710,224 13,515,436
Provision for bad debts (9,710,224) (7,296,723)

- 6,218,713

National Credit Regulator
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30.  Contingent liabilities

The nCR is currently involved in a labour dispute with another party. The matter has been referred to the high court. The outcome 
of the matter is uncertain. The nCR would be liable for an estimated amount of R580,000 should the other party be successful in 
court.

31.  Contingent assets

The High Court has ruled in favour of the nCR in a matter between the nCR and Barko financial services. The respondent was 
ordered to settle the legal costs of the nCR estimated at R 450,000 in full. Barko financial services is appealing the matter at the 
Supreme Court of Appeal. Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

32.  Change in accounting estimate

During the current financial year, the nCR received a ruling from the national Consumer Tribunal relating to the lapsing, with 
immediate effect of the registration of registrants who fail to pay their renewal fees in line with section 52(4)(b) of the national
Credit Act. The impact of the ruling is that the nCR is required to revise the basis utilised to provide for the recoverability of 
debtors due from registrants.

The ruling was regarded as a change in accounting estimate for accounting purposes and its impact was accounted for 
prospectively. All registrants with fees outstanding at year end were fully provided for and their registration with the nCR lapsed. 
In future, only registrants with active fees owing for not longer than 30 days will be reflected as receivables.

The impact of the change in estimate is as follows:

Effect on statement of financial performance

Bad debts provided for 9,710,224 -

Effect on statement of financial position

Decrease in receivables (9,710,224) -

- -

National Credit Regulator
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2014

notes to the financial Statements



NCR Annual Report 2014 83nCR Annual Report 2014 83

PART 5
Human Resources management



NCR Annual Report 201484

The success of regulatory work is heavily dependent upon 
the quality of the regulator’s human resources. The challenge 
of securing and retaining staff of the necessary calibre 
is heightened by the fact that the nCR’s core functions – 
compliance, complaints, investigation and enforcement – 
require a unique mix of knowledge that spans the legal and 
financial fields, along with well developed human relations 
skills. Appropriate staff recruitment, development and 
retention initiatives are therefore an integral part of the nCR’s 
infrastructure.

5.1.1 overview of staff establishment 

At the end of the financial year, the nCR’s staff establishment 
(including fixed contract employees and learners) stood at 151, 
representing a slight increase of 11.9% on the number when 
compared to the end of the previous year. The nCR filled a total 
of 49 positions during the 2013/14 financial year, 23 of which 
were promotions and 26 new entrants. Staff turnover was a 
modest 8% when compared to the 9% recorded in 2012/2013. 

The nCR strives to comply with national empowerment and equity policies. The composition of our total staff complement and the 
management echelon are reflected in the pie charts below.

5.1  Human Resources Report

29% 40%
10%

59% 50%

2%
3%

1% 3% 3%

Figure 9: Employee Profile Figure 10: Management Profile

African males

African females

White females

White males

Coloured males

Coloured females

Indian females

African males

African females

White males

Table 12: Total NCR staff complement as at 31 March 2014

Year full Time fixed Contract Temporary leaners Total

2012 124 3 6 10 143

2013 122 7 4 10 143

2014 135 6 0 20 161

Human Resources, Security and facilities Teams
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5.1.2 Retention strategies

Review of HR policies

The nCR pursues a strategy of reviewing and, where 
necessary, amending a range of HR policies regularly in 
order to ensure that the organisation is perceived to be an 
employer of choice. An important part of this ongoing process 
is a process of salary benchmarking and adjustment. The 
nCR is confident that as a result of this strategy its current 
remuneration structure fairly reflects its employees’ positions 
and experience.

Review of HR administration systems

The period under review saw a renewal of the nCR’s HR 
administration system via the introduction of SAP system on 
the basis that it offers a seamless or integrated platform for 
a range of HR and accounting functions. Because the nCR 
staff travel extensively, SAP is working well in simplifying and 
expediting subsistence and travel claims.

A new Human Resources management Information System 
(HRmIS) was implemented during the year with the payroll 
module and the employee Self Service module being fully 
functional. The system is aligned to the development of an 
HRmIS performance management module. 

Sound labour and employee relations

The nCR is in the process of establishing an employer-
employee forum in the interest of harmonising sound labour 
and employee relations. The terms of reference for the 

forum, aptly named the nCR Consultative forum, have been 
developed and is in the process of being approved.

employee wellness initiatives

ICAS Southern Africa, nCR’s employee wellness programme 
provider, furnishes individual services to nCR staff members 
and their immediate families – services that include 
psychological counselling, life management guidance and 
an on-line eCare service. All employees have been offered an 
outsourced ICAS system induction session. The nCR receives 
quarterly reports on staff utilisation of ICAS’s services.

The nCR periodically organises or hosts wellness events 
for employees. While the focus is primarily on health, these 
events often provide added benefits in terms of team building 
and/or social responsibility.

The 2013/14 programme included a wellness day, a team 
building event, a newsletter launch, a Women’s Day function, 
a Heritage Day initiative and the launching of the nCR’s 
change management strategy.

At end of September 2013, individuals utilisation of the nCR 
wellness services had increased from the previous quarter and 
remains above the financial sector average of 12.9%. 

Teambuilding

A dedicated team-building exercise was undertaken in 
october 2013 in muldersdrift, Johannesburg. It involved a 
range of physical and intellectual team challenges and all 
employees were given nCR-branded T-shirts and caps.

nCR Teambuilding in muldersdrift, october 2013.
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5.1.3 Development initiatives

learnership Programme

The nCR’s second learnership Programme got underway in 
April 2013 with ten (10) learners, all of whom stayed on for the 
duration of the course. The learners also completed additional 
training on the national Credit Act and on debt counselling 
principles. encouragingly, the nCR has secured further 
funding for its third, 2014, learnership Programme, the intake 
of which will increase to 20 learners, the number having been 
whittled down from more than 1 700 applicants.

The prime motivation for the learnership programme is 
to recruit young talent from around the country, develop 
them and consider them for full time employment in the 
organisation.

A feature of the programme is that it strives to increase the 
skills base of the country at large and not specifically that of 
the nCR. even so, we have managed to retain more than 70% 
of those who have completed our learnership programme. 

The programme covers theory and practice, the latter being 
undertaken with the assistance of nCR mentors.

The nCR plans to further expand its learnership/graduate 
programme to include enhanced training in spheres such as 
management and finance. A proposal to increase the time 
the graduates spend at the nCR to three years is also under 
consideration. 

management Programme

The nCR has embarked on various management Development 
activities aimed at capacitating managers to better enable 

them to perform their jobs. Continuous staff engagement 
activities were also conducted to ensure a well rounded 
working environment and to raise morale.

Various key vacant management positions were filled during 
the year, among them the permanent appointment of a Chief 
financial officer. 

Funding assistance for studies
The nCR is proud of its established practice of assisting 
members of staff to further their studies in relevant fields. The 
applicable bursary contract requires students to undertake a 
year of service for every year of study financed by the nCR.

Corporate Responsibility

Cell C Take a Girl Child to Work
The nCR continues to support the annual “Cell C Take a Girl 
Child to Work” campaign by hosting learners from relatively 
disadvantaged schools.

Mandela Day 2013
nCR staff joined forces in the Alexandra area to spend their 
67 minutes for madiba by painting, cleaning and cooking for 
the orphans at the Ketex foundation’s leratong orphanage 
Centre.

learners
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Learner Success Stories

The learnership programme helped me 
to gain valuable skills that assisted in the 
areas of complaints handling, customer 
service and customer satisfaction. I also 
gained knowledge of the national Credit 
Act and Debt Counselling. now that I work 
with debt counselling complaints, all the 
knowledge I gained has become useful. But 
I am still learning every day.

The knowledge of the Act also helped me 
personally to know my rights and know 
if I’m treated unfairly as a consumer, I 
have applied this knowledge in certain 
circumstances that I came across as a 
consumer.

   
Lebo Tumane, Call Centre Agent

The nCR learnership programme has been 
a very inspiring journey and an amazing 
opportunity for me. I’m very grateful for 
the skills and valuable experience I gained. 
I particularly enjoyed the opportunities 
to learn from and work with individuals of 
different backgrounds. 

I was very impressed with the 
professionalism that the HR Department 
showed me. I was treated as an equal and 
allowed to be involved in anything I wanted 
to be part of. overall I had an amazing 
experience. I’m now currently employed as 
a Human Resources officer.
 
     

Nolwazi Ngqozela, Human Resources Officer 

The learnership programme is the best 
platform for one to kickstart their career 
and familiarise themselves with the working 
environment. I had an opportunity to 
interact with different departments within 
the nCR. Being a learner Compliance 
officer equipped me with the relevant skills 
and knowledge. 

Getting to know more, or rather having the 
in depth knowledge of the Registrations 
and Compliance department (as they work 
in conjunction with one another), I was 
able to familiarise myself with the relevant 
sections and regulations of the Act and 
policies and procedures of the department. 
my competency and capacity has resulted 
in me being absorbed as a permanent 
employee. 

Risuna Mabasa, Registrations Administrator

From left: lebo Tumane (Call Centre Agent), nolwazi ngqozela (Human Resources officer) and 
Risuna mabasa (Registrations Administrator).

mandela day in Alexandra Township, July 2013.
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